
1 

AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MONDAY, FEBRUARY 1, 2021 
10:00 A.M.  

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING FACILITY 
12645 6TH STREET 

RANCHO CUCAMONGA, CA 91739 
(Virtual Meeting through Microsoft Teams) 

www.ierca.org/calendar 
+1 415-856-9169 United States, San Francisco (Toll)

Conference ID: 898 497 31# 

PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF EXECUTIVE ORDER N-25-20 ISSUED BY GOVERNOR GAVIN 
NEWSOM ON MARCH 12, 2020, AND EXECUTIVE ORDER N-29-20 ISSUED BY GOVERNOR GAVIN 

NEWSOM ON MARCH 17, 2020 ANY BOARD MEMBER MAY CALL INTO THE BOARD MEETING 
WITHOUT OTHERWISE COMPLYING WITH ALL BROWN ACT’S TELECONFERENCE 

REQUIREMENTS. 

TELECONFERENCE ACCESSIBILITY FOR THE GENERAL PUBLIC: 
In all efforts to prevent the spread of COVID-19, until further notice, the Inland Empire Regional 

Composting Authority will be holding all Board meetings by teleconferencing. 
The meeting will be accessible through Microsoft Teams or at: (415) 856-9169 / Conf Code:898 497 31# 

This meeting  is  being  conducted  virtually  by  video  and  audio  conferencing  through Microsoft  Teams. 
There will  be no public  location available  to attend  the meeting; however,  the public may participate 
and provide public comment during the meeting by calling into the number provided here.   The public 
may also view the meeting live through the Agency’s website.  Alternatively, you may email your public 
comments to the Recording Secretary at vstone@ieua.org no later than 24 hours prior to the scheduled 
meeting time. Your comments will then be read into the record during the meeting. 

CALL TO ORDER 
OF THE INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS MEETING 

FLAG SALUTE 

PUBLIC COMMENT 



2 

Members of the public may address the Board on any item that is within the jurisdiction of the Board; 
however, no action may be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is 
otherwise authorized by Subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2 of the Government Code.  Those persons 
wishing to address the Board on any matter, whether or not it appears on the agenda, are requested to 
complete and submit to the Board Secretary a “Request to Speak” form which are available on the table 
in the Board Room.  Comments will be limited to five minutes per speaker.  Thank you. 

ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

In accordance with Section 54954.2 of the Government Code (Brown Act), additions to the agenda 
require two-thirds vote of the legislative body, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a 
unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a need to take immediate action and that the 
need for action came to the attention of the local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted. 

INTRODUCTION OF NEW HIRE – MARCUS COULOMBE, COMPOST SALES 
REPRESENTATIVE 

1. ELECTION OF OFFICERS

BOARD CHAIRPERSON 
BOARD VICE-CHAIRPERSON 

2. CONSENT CALENDAR

A. MINUTES
The Board will be asked to approve the minutes from the
November 2, 2020 regular meeting.

B. INVESTMENT AND DISBURSEMENT REPORT
It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve for the months of
October 2020 – December 2020:

1. Total disbursements in the amount of $2,727,334.63.

2. There were no new investments during October 1, 2020 –
December 31, 2020.

3. ACTION ITEMS

A. APPOINTMENT OF ASSISTANT PROJECT MANAGER
It is recommended that the Board of Directors appoint Mike Sullivan as the
Assistant Project Manager of the Inland Empire Regional Composting
Authority.



3 

B. ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2020
It is recommended that the Board of Directors:

1. Approve the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority
(IERCA/Authority) Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended
June 30, 2020, as presented; and

2. Direct staff to distribute the report as appropriate, to the various
federal, state and local agencies, financial institutions, and other
interested parties.

C. ON-CALL CONSTRUCTION SERVICE CONTRACTORS
It is recommended that the Board of Directors:

1. Approve the awarding of Master Services Contracts with two as-
needed/on-call construction service contractors for a not-to-exceed
annual aggregate amount of $300,000 to be used as needed between
both contractors; and

2. Authorize the Project Manager to finalize and execute the Contracts.

4. INFORMATION ITEMS

A. PROJECT MANAGER’S REPORT

B. CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATE

C. TREASURER’S REPORT OF FINANCIAL AFFAIRS FOR THE
QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

5. DIRECTOR COMMENTS

Next regular meeting is scheduled for Monday, May 3, 2021 at 10:00 a.m.

6. ADJOURN

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the Recording Secretary (909-993-1744), 48 hours prior to the scheduled meeting so that 
the Agency can make reasonable arrangements.



4 

Declaration of Posting 

I, Victoria Stone, Recording Secretary to the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority, hereby certify that a copy 
of this agenda has been posted by 5:30 p.m. at the County Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles 1955 Workman Mill 
Road, Whittier, CA and at the IERCA’s Administrative Building, 12645 Sixth Street, Rancho Cucamonga, CA and at 
the IEUA’s main office, 6075 Kimball Ave., Chino, CA on Tuesday, January 26, 2021. 

Victoria Stone 
Victoria Stone, Recording Secretary



           
CONSENT 

CALENDAR 
ITEM 

 

2A 
 



1 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

THE INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY (IERCA) 
NOVEMBER 2, 2020 

VIA - TELECONFERENCE 
10:00 A.M. 

DIRECTORS PRESENT: 
Jon Blickenstaff, Chairperson  
Michael Camacho, Vice Chairperson 
Shivaji Deshmukh, Director 
Margaret Finlay, Director 
Robert Ferrante, Director 

DIRECTORS ABSENT: 
Paul Hofer, Director 

OTHERS PRESENT VIA Telecon: 
Jeff Ziegenbein, Project Manager, IERCA 
Ann Heil, Assistant Project Manager, IERCA  
Christina Valencia, Treasurer, IERCA 
Marty Cihigoyenetche, General Counsel 
Randy Lee, Executive Manager of Operations/AGM, IEUA 
Christiana Daisy, Executive Manager of Engineering/AGM, IEUA 
James Spears, Associate Engineer, IEUA 
Warren Green, Manager of Contracts and Procurement, IEUA 
Javier Chagoyen-Lazaro, Manager of Finance and Accounting, IEUA   
Denise Garzaro, Board Secretary/Office Manager, IEUA 
Jeanina Romero, Executive Assistant Operations, IEUA 
Kenneth Monfore, Asset Management, IEUA 
Matt Bao, Supervising Engineer, LACSD 
Michael Sullivan, Assistant Department Head, LACSD 
Victoria Stone, Recording Secretary, IERCA 

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the IERCA was held at the Inland Empire Utilities Agency 
Headquarters building located at 6075 Kimball Ave, Chino CA, on the above date. 

Chairperson Blickenstaff called the meeting to order at    10:02  a.m. and he led the pledge of allegiance 
to the flag. A quorum was present.   

INTRODUCTIONS 
Chairperson Blickenstaff stated that members of the public may address the Board.  There were no 
persons desiring to address the Board of Directors.   

Chairperson Blickenstaff asked if there were any changes, additions and or deletions to the agenda.  
There were no changes/additions/deletions to the agenda. 

Chairman Blickenstaff recognized Assistant Project Manager Ann Heil for her service to this project.  He 
stated that Ms. Heil has been the Assistant Project Manager for the past five and a half years.  Ms. Heil 
has been with the Districts since 1988 working in several departments specializing in environmental 
compliance. In April 2015 she was promoted to Section Head of the Monitoring Section replacing Mr. 
Sullivan. Staff would like to recognize Ms. Heil for her dedication and service to the Authority. 



2 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
Upon motion by Director Finlay, seconded by Director Deshmukh, the motion carried unanimously 

              M2020-11-1 

The Board: 
Approved the Consent Calendar. 

1. Minutes from the August 3, 2020, regular meeting of the Board of Directors.

2. The Investment and Disbursement Report as submitted.

Director Camacho entered the meeting at 10:09 a.m. 

FISCAL YEAR 2019/20 CARRY FORWARD BUDGET AMENDMENT  
Ms. Christina Valencia stated that Staff is recommending the Board of Directors approve the carry forward 
for open encumbrances and related budget in the amount of $497,672 from FY 2019/20 to FY 2020/21. 

Upon motion by Director Finlay, seconded by Director Ferrante, the motion carried unanimously 

            M2020-11-2 

The Board: 
Approved the carry forward for open encumbrances and related budget in the amount of 
$497,672 from FY 2019/20 to FY 2020/21. 

PROJECT MANAGER’S REPORT 
Mr. Ziegenbein summarized the facility’s throughput levels stating that biosolids levels are at 
approximately 650 wet tons and amendments at 300 wet tons per day representing full capacity.  He 
further stated that compost sales volumes are exceeding production volumes and that this is the time of 
year where farmers are preparing the ground for seeding.  He noted that the current Sales and Marketing 
Coordinator has been promoted to Compost Facility Supervisor of Maintenance and the facility has 
initiated a recruitment to fill this vacancy.  Mr. Ziegenbein continued with a COVID-19 update stating that 
the facility has been operating full production while following the CDC guidelines to keep staff healthy.   
He discussed the Biofilter Media Replenishment project stating that the project is required about every 
two years and that completion is expected in January 2021. Mr. Ziegenbein continued with an update 
on the maintenance activities, stating that the department has begun testing ABB Smart Sensor 
technology. This technology is designed to monitor fan bearings and other remote bearings throughout 
the facility and is programmed to provide alarms when bearings overheat or begin to vibrate. Mr. 
Ziegenbein added that the facility continues to be closed to the public due to the COVID-19 Pandemic 
therefore, there are no tours of the facility.   

TREASURER’S REPORT OF FINANCIAL AFFAIRS FOR THE QUARTER ENDED 
JUNE 30, 2020   
Ms. Valencia presented the quarterly report ending September 30, 2020 with total cash, investments 
and restricted deposits equaled $2,990,670 showing a decrease of $1,193,302 when compared to the 
June balance of $4,183,972. She stated that the decrease was mainly due to a higher spending in 
operating and administrative expenses for the annual renewal of the commercial property coverage and 
general liability insurance for $572,000 that was paid at the beginning for the quarter and glulam roof 
repair for $250,000; and the timing in processing payment of operations, maintenance and labor costs. 
Interest earnings on the Authority’s investment portfolio totaled $9,281 for the first quarter through 
September 2020.  Ms. Valencia stated that the Authority will be exercising the Capital Call which will be 
$250,000 for each partner.  She stated that the last time this was exercised was back in 2014. 



3 

CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATE 
Mr. Ziegenbein introduced James Spears, IEUA Associate Engineer, who presented updates on three 
Capital Projects.  The first being the Compost Screening Plant No. 1 Replacement project.  He stated 
that this project was completed last year however, there are some items which required follow-up under 
warranty by the manufacturer WSM. Most impactful was the screen cloths that after failing twice the 
manufacturer decided to replace tensioned screen technology which is more robust than the bolt-on 
style the screen came with.  The next update was the Glulam repair project that was completed in two 
parts. First, temporary columns where installed for safety while engineers evaluated the beam and 
developed a repair plan. Second, steel reinforcement beams were mounted to the glulam to increase 
strength and to allow the beam to be put back into service. Mr. Spears stated that construction was 
completed in September 2020. The third project was the Wash Pad Cover which stated was 70% 
completed and expected to be finished in December 2020. 

DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 
None. 

With no further business, Chairperson Blickenstaff adjourned the meeting at 10:42 a.m.    

______________________________ 
Victoria Stone, Recording Secretary 
APPROVED:   February 1, 2021 



           
CONSENT 

CALENDAR 
ITEM 

 

2B 
 

 



Inland Empire Utilities Agency Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 

***** TR_Investment Report 

Date: February 1, 2021 

To: Honorable Board of Directors 

From: Christina Valencia 
Treasurer 

Subject: Investment and Disbursement Report 

RECOMMENDATION  

It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve for the months of October 2020 - 
December 2020: 

1. Total disbursements in the amount of $2,727,334.63.

2. There were no new investments during October 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020.

BACKGROUND 

The October – December 2020 disbursement activity includes check numbers 8557-8643 in the 
amount of $287,991.72 for vendor payments. A detailed listing of the check register and electronic 
disbursements (ACH/Wire) is attached. 

The total amount of ACH and Wire Transfer payments is $ 2,439,342.91. 

Payment Type Checks 
From – To 

Transactions Total Amount 

Check 8557-8643   87 $    287,991.72 
ACH 154 $ 2,438,251.91 
Wire Transfer     1   $        1,091.00 
TOTAL 242 $ 2,727,334.63 

PRIOR BOARD ACTION 

None. 



Investment and Disbursement Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 
 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency                          Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 
 
***** TR_Investment Report 

 

IMPACT ON BUDGET 
 
The total cash and position of the Authority is reduced as a result of paying authorized 
expenditures.  



















































           ACTION 
ITEM 

 3A 

 



Inland Empire Utilities Agency               Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

Date:      February 1, 2021 

To:      Honorable Board of Directors 

From:      Jeff Ziegenbein 
     Project Manager 

Subject:      Appointment of Assistant Project Manager of the Inland Empire Regional 
Composting Authority 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors appoint Mike Sullivan as the Assistant Project 
Manager of the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority (IERCA). 

BACKGROUND 

In late 2020, IERCA Assistant Project Manager Ann Heil retired from the Los Angeles County 
Sanitation Districts. As stated in the Joint Powers Authority (JPA) Agreement, the positions of 
Project Manager and Assistant Project Manager shall be filled with one staff member of the 
Agency and one staff member of the Districts. The Districts has selected Mike Sullivan to be 
considered as Assistant Project Manager of the IERCA.  

Mr. Sullivan was previously involved with the IERCA serving as Assistant Project Manager 
from its inception through 2015. He’s been with the Districts since 1989 and serves as Assistant 
Department Head of the Technical Services Department.  

PRIOR BOARD ACTION 

None. 

IMPACT ON BUDGET 

None. 



           ACTION 
ITEM 

 3B 

 



Inland Empire Utilities Agency Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 

Date:    February 1, 2021 

To:    Honorable Board of Directors 

From:    Christina Valencia 

     Treasurer 

Subject:  Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors: 

1. Approve the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority (IERCA/Authority) Annual

Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020, as presented; and

2. Direct staff to distribute the report as appropriate, to the various federal, state and local

agencies, financial institutions, and other interested parties.

BACKGROUND 

The Authority’s Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 was prepared in 

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America 

(GAAP), as set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). As required by 

state law, Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP (LSL), the Authority’s independent audit firm, performed 

the annual financial audit.  LSL issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion indicating the financial 

statements are presented fairly and free of material misstatements.  LSL found no material 

deficiency in internal controls over financial reporting.  A review was also conducted by Internal 

Audit department of the Inland Empire Utilities Agency.  A copy of their report is attached.   

FY 2019/20 Financial Highlights 

Total revenue in FY 2019/20 reflects a slight increase from $9.10 million to $9.12 million reported 

in the prior fiscal year.   

Total expenses of $11.80 million reported an increase of $0.80 million compared to last fiscal year 

primarily due to higher operating expenses of $0.76 million, depreciation of $0.02 million, and 

increase in the non-operating expenses of $0.02 million. 



Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020 

February 1, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 

The total ending net position decreased by $2.7 million to $82.5 million as of June 30, 2020, of 

which approximately $79.4 million has been invested in capital assets. The remaining $3.1 million 

is working capital to support fund balances designated for operating contingencies, self-insurance 

liability costs, and capital replacement and construction investment.  No call was made against the 

$1,000,000 capital call budgeted in FY 2019/20.   

PRIOR BOARD ACTION 

The Board approved the IERCA Financial Statements for FY 2018/19 in February 2020 

The Board approved the IERCA Budget for FY 2019/20 in May 2020. 

IMPACT ON BUDGET 

None. 



ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,  2020

F E B R U A R Y  1 ,  2 0 2 1



FY 2019/20 Highlights

 Tipping fee remained unchanged to $56/ton

 $21k increase in total revenues due to an increase in biosolids
recycling and a slight increase in non-operating income

 $875K increase in total expenses primarily due to higher
operating material and supplies, and depreciation expense

 Staffing level maintained at 25 full time (FT) positions

 No capital call needed to support capital projects



FY 2019/20 Statement of Revenue, 
Expense, and Change in Net Position

($ Millions)
Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2019
Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 Change %

Total Revenue $9.1 $9.1 0%

Total Expenses(1) (11.0) (11.8) 8.0%

Change in Net Position ($1.9) ($2.7) 45.5%

Beginning Net Position, July 1 $87.1 $85.2 (6.9%)

Ending Net Position, June 30 $85.2 $82.5 (3.2%)

(1)Includes annual depreciation expense of $3.1M.



FY 2019/20
Statement of Net Position

($ Millions)
Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2019
Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2020 Change %

Assets 

Current Assets $5.8 $5.2 (10.5%)

Net Capital & Intangible Assets 81.3 79.4 (2.4%)

Total Assets $87.1 $84.6 (2.9%)

Liabilities & Net Position

Current Liabilities $1.9 $2.1 9.2%

Invested in Capital Assets $81.2 $79.3 (2.4%)

Unrestricted 3.9 3.1 (20.3%)

Total Liabilities and Net Position $87.0 $84.5 (3.2%)



FY 2019/20 Ending Cash Position
$4.20 Million 

 $0.42 million decrease from prior fiscal year

Insurance, $0.5 M 
12%

Biofilter 
Replacement, $0.3 M 

7%

Operating 
Contingency, $2.16 M 

51%

Capital Replacement & 
Improvements, $1.24 M 

30%



FY 2020/21 Mid-Year  Statement of 
Revenue, Expenses, and Change in Fund Balance

($Millions)
FY 2020/21 

Amended Budget

FY 2020/21 
Actual

As of 12/31/20 YTD Budget Used

Revenue(1)
$9.3 $4.5 48%

Expenses
8.2  4.6   56%

Capital 2.3 0.6 26%

Net Profit (Loss)
($1.2) ($0.7)

(1)Includes $500,000 capital contribution exercised in November 2020.



QUESTIONS?



Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Rancho Cucamonga, CA

ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
    REPORT

A regional, cost-e�ective approach to sustainable organics management.

2020



ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
REPORT

FISC AL YEAR ENDED
JUNE 30 ,  2020

Prepared by
I n land Empire  U t i l i t ies  Agenc y

Finance and Account ing D epar tment

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL
COMPOSTING AUTHORITY

12645 S ix th  Street
R ancho Cucamonga,  C A 91739

P.O.  B ox  2470
Chino H i l l s ,  C A 91709

Telephone:  909 .993.1500
FAX:  909 .993.1510

w w w. ierca .org



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY 
Annual Financial Report 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Introductory Section 
Introductory Section 

Page 

Letter of Transmittal I  

  Authority Profile I 

  Major Initiatives and Accomplishments III 

  Financial Information IV 

Principal Officials VII 

Organizational Chart VIII 

Financial Section 

Independent Auditors’ Report 1  

   Management’s Discussion and Analysis 4  

 Basic Financial Statements 9 

Statement of Net Position 10 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 11  

Statement of Cash Flows  12 

 Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 14 





I 

February 01, 2021 

To the Chairperson of the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority Board, Members of the  
Board, and Joint Powers Authority members of the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority. 

The Annual Financial Report of the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority (IERCA or the 
Authority) is hereby submitted for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020.  State and local 
ordinances and statutes require the Authority to annually publish a report of its financial condition 
and activities, audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a firm of 
licensed certified public accountants. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management 
to provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial 
statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of 
transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.  

Management Responsibility for Financial Information 

The Finance and Accounting Department of Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA) prepared this 
report.  Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and completeness and fairness of the 
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the Authority’s and IEUA’s management.  To the 
best of management’s knowledge and belief, the enclosed information is accurate in all material 
respects and is reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results 
of operations of the Authority. Disclosures are presented to enable the reader to gain an 
understanding of the Authority’s financial activities. 

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY PROFILE 

Up to the Present    

The IERCA was formed February 27, 2002 as a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to divert organic 
solids from landfill disposal and to recycle organic products generated from within the community.  
IEUA and Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts (LACSD) entered into the JPA to implement 
the shared goal to develop a sustainable biosolids management project. 

The Authority is governed by a six-member Board, comprised of two governing board members 
from each JPA member agency and their respective General Manager.  The Executive Manager 
of Finance & Administration/Assistant General Manager of IEUA serves as the Treasurer of the 
Authority. 

In March 2007, the two joint powers agencies completed construction of the Inland Empire 
Regional Composting Facility (IERCF).  As the nation’s largest indoor biosolids composting 
facility, it consists of 445,275 square feet.   The IERCA focuses on producing top quality compost 
under the guidelines outlined in the US Composting Council’s Seal of Testing Assurance (STA) 
program. 

12645 6th Street, Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91739 

         PO Box 2470 Chino Hills, CA 91709 

   Phone: (909) 993-1500 Fax: (909) 993-1510 

www.ierca.org 

        Quality Products for Healthy Soil 



February 01, 2021 
To the Chairperson and Members of 
The Board of The Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority      

 

II 
 

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY PROFILE (continued): 
 
Up to the Present (continued):    
 

Operations at the facility began in April 2007, it reached full capacity in December 2008.  At full 
capacity, the IERCF receives and processes over 200,000 wet tons of biosolids and wood waste 
from local communities and produces approximately 232,000 cubic yards (81,000 tons) of high-
quality compost each year. 

 

The facility is staffed by twenty-five full-time IEUA employees, and one part time employee from 
LACSD.  The employees are onsite Monday through Friday, and conduct all operational activities 
including production, maintenance, safety and industrial hygiene training, sales and 
administration. 

 

The IERCA produces compost using the 
aerated static pile (ASP) composting method 
by mixing together organic material in large 
piles instead of in traditional windrows.  
Aeration occurs as air is pushed or pulled 
through the ASP.  IERCF pulls air directly from 
the piles and sends the air to a biofilter along 
with air exchange through the composting 
building. The biofilter is 50,000 cubic yards of 
a special blend of wood chips that treats all of 
the air by removing odors and other regulated 
compounds before it is exhausted to the 
atmosphere.  

 

 

 

The entire composting process at the IERCF takes approximately 60 days.  Active composting 
lasts approximately 22 days before the pile is moved into curing. The material is stabilized in 
curing for 30 to 38 days.  After curing, the compost is screened and is then ready for distribution 
and use.   

 

The composted product, which is marketed as SoilPro Premium Compost, has been sold as a 
soil conditioner which helps improve water retention resulting in better plant growth and water 
savings. Compost products are also proven to produce direct benefits to soils and crops in both 
horticulture (lawns and gardens) and agriculture (vegetables, fruits, nuts, and hay crops).    
 

In order to produce recycled products year-round, the IERCA completed the compost storage 
facility in 2010 to allow compost storage during the winter season. 

 

Additionally, the Authority entered into two separate agreements to host nearly 10,000 solar 
panels located on the roof of the facility which provides up to 2.5 megawatts of renewable energy. 
The system is paired with a shared battery storage system located at IEUA’s Regional Water 
Recycling Plant No. 4. The entire system can provide all the energy required during peak 
operating hours. 

 

 

 

 
 
  

IERCA Composting Facility 



February 01, 2021 
To the Chairperson and Members of 
The Board of The Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 

III 

MAJOR INITIATIVES and ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the IERCF surpassed 2.8 million cubic yards of 
compost produced and sold from the facility. There are over 100 active customers who purchase 
SoilPro products for a variety of applications each year.   

There were no changes to the tiered pricing system as the market has remained stable. Tiered 
pricing offers incentives to customers who purchase large volumes of compost in exchange for 
pricing discounts. The tiered compost pricing structure is shown in Table 1. 

Table 1: 

Tier Cubic Yards (CYDs)/Month Premium (Cubic Yard) 

1 <499 $5.00 

2 500-999 $4.00 

3 ≥1,000 $3.50 

Major Initiatives for FY 2020/2021 

In fiscal year 2020/2021, an energy metering system will be evaluated for installation to assist in 
improved energy tracking and conservation opportunities. Sales staff are reviewing opportunities 
to increase revenue from compost sales through the development of specialty products.  

Major Accomplishments for FY 2019/2020 

• Completed a facility beautification project painting all buildings and resurfacing the
asphalt.

• Kicked off wash pad cover project to improve maintenance safety and efficiency.

• Recognized by two organizations for excellence in engineering.

• Maintained perfect environmental compliance.

• Met all budgeted targets.

IERCA Main Office 



February 01, 2021 
To the Chairperson and Members of 
The Board of The Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority      

 

IV 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Internal Controls 
 

The Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal 
control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the Authority are protected from loss, theft 
or misuse, and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the Authority’s 
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  
 

The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance 
the financial statements will be free from material misstatement and that these objectives are met. 
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not outweigh 
the benefits likely to be derived; and the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and 
judgments by management. 
 

As management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is 
complete and reliable in all material aspects.   
 
Budgetary Controls 
 

The Authority maintains extensive budgetary controls.  The objective of these controls is to ensure 
compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annually appropriated budget approved by the 
Authority's Board of Directors.  The level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures 
cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is set at the category level (i.e., Capital and 
Operating) within the Authority.  The Authority maintains an encumbrance accounting system as 
an additional method of maintaining budgetary control.  Encumbered amounts lapse at year-end.  
However, outstanding encumbrances are generally re-appropriated as part of the following fiscal 
year’s budget following Board approval. 
 
Independent Audit 
 

State statutes require an annual audit by independent certified public accountants.  The 
Authority's Board of Directors appointed the firm of Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP to perform the 
annual audit. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements of the Authority for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 are free of any 
material misstatement. As part of the independent audit, reviews on a test basis were made to 
determine the adequacy of internal controls, and to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations related to all financial activities conducted by the Authority. Generally accepted 
auditing standards, issued by the Controller General of the United States of America, were used 

by the auditors in conducting the engagement. The auditor's report on the basic financial 
statements is included in the financial section of this report. 

 

The independent audit concluded, based upon the audit, that there was reasonable basis for 
rendering an unmodified opinion that the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority’s financial 
statements for the year ended June 30, 2020 are fairly presented in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The independent auditor’s report 
is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. 
 
  



February 01, 2021 
To the Chairperson and Members of 
The Board of The Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 

V 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued): 

Cash and Investment Management 

The Authority has a comprehensive cash and investment program subject to California 
Government Code Sections 53601, 53607, 53635, 53638, 53646, 53652, and 53653. These 
regulations are incorporated into the Authority’s (Investment Policy), which identifies the types of 
investments that are authorized and indicates any restrictions.  

Consistent with Government Code Section 53646, the Authority annually adopts the Investment 
Policy that requires the IERCA to invest funds in a manner which will provide: (i) the maximum 
security; (ii) the funds necessary to meet the daily cash flow demands of the Authority; and (iii) 
the highest investment return while conforming to all statutes governing the investment of 
Authority funds within the constraints of the investment policy.  By adoption of the policy, it is the 
intent of the Authority to minimize credit and market risks, while maintaining a competitive yield 
on its overall portfolio.  

The Authority’s cash management system is also designed to forecast revenues and expenses, 
and to invest idle funds to the fullest extent possible. During the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2020, 
idle funds were invested in accordance with this policy. These investments consisted primarily of 
deposits in a pooled investment fund administered by the Los Angeles County Investment Officer. 

In order of priority, the Authority’s objectives when investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, 
selling, enhancing and managing public funds are as follows: 

1. Safety:  Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. Investments made
by the Authority shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of capital in the 
overall portfolio. To attain this objective, diversification is required to prevent any potential loss on any 
individual security or depository from exceeding the income generated from the remainder of the portfolio. 

2. Liquidity:  The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the Authority to meet all
operating requirements that might be reasonably anticipated. 

3. Return on Investments: The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining
a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the investment risk 
constraints and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio.  Return on investment is of secondary 
importance compared to safety and liquidity objectives described above.  The core investment is limited to 
relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the risk being assumed.  
Securities shall not be sold prior to maturity with the following exceptions: 

A. A security with declining credit may be sold to minimize loss of principal.

B. A security swap that would improve quality, yield, or target duration in the portfolio.

C. Liquidity needs of the portfolio that require the security to be sold.



February 01, 2021 
To the Chairperson and Members of 
The Board of The Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 

VI 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued): 

Cash and Investment Management (continued): 

All cash and investment transactions are conducted in accordance with the Authority’s resolutions 
and Investment Policy.  While management recognizes that investment risks may result from 
issuer defaults, market price changes or various technical complications leading to temporary 
liquidity, portfolio diversification is employed as a way to minimize these risks.   

Acknowledgements 

We acknowledge the thorough and professional manner in which the external auditors, Lance, 
Soll & Lunghard, LLP, conducted the audit. Additionally, we would like to acknowledge the staffs 
from the member agencies of the Authority for their cooperation and contribution in providing the 
necessary information to complete this report. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Christina Valencia, Treasurer 



VII 

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY 

Principal Officials 

June 30, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Jon Blickenstaff, Chairperson 

Michael Camacho, Vice-Chairperson 
Shivaji Deshmukh, Director 

Robert Ferrant, Director 

Margaret Finlay, Director 

Paul Hofer, Director 

OFFICERS OF THE AUTHORITY 

Jeffrey Ziegenbein, Project Manager 

Ann Heil, Assistant Project Manager  
Christina Valencia, Treasurer 

LEGAL COUNSEL 

JC Law Firm 
Jean Cihigoyenetche, APC 

Chino Hills, California 



VIII 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 
 

Organizational Chart 
 

June 30, 2020 
 

Board Members 
Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

and 
Inland Empire Utilities Agency 

TREASURER 
Christina Valencia 

 
 

SECRETARY 
IERCA Board Secretary 

April Woodruff 

PROJECT MANAGER 
Jeffrey Ziegenbein 

(IEUA) 

ASSISTANT  
PROJECT MANAGER 

Ann Heil 
(LACSD) 





 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

203 N. Brea Blvd., Suite 203 Brea, CA 92821 Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP Phone: 714.672.0022 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 
Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 
Rancho Cucamonga, California 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Inland Empire Regional Composting 
Authority, (the Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority, as of June 30, 2020, and the 
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

1



 
To the Board of Directors 
Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 
Rancho Cucamonga, California 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Prior Year Comparative Information 
 
The financial statements include partial prior-year comparative information.  Such information does not 
include all of the information required or sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Accordingly, such information 
should be read in conjunction with the government’s financial statements for the year ended  
June 30, 2019, from which such partial information was derived. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The introductory section is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The introductory section 
has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 19, 
2021 on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 

Brea, California 
January 19, 2021 
 

2



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The intent of the management’s discussion and analysis is to provide highlights of the Authority’s 
financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. Readers are encouraged to read this 
section in conjunction with the transmittal letter and the accompanying basic financial statements. 

The Authority’s Operations – an Overview 

As a Joint Powers Authority, the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority (IERCA or the 
Authority) owns a composting facility on approximately 22 acres of land in Rancho Cucamonga. The 
property is ideally situated in an industrial area adjacent to Regional Water Recycling Plant No. 4 
(RP-4), a wastewater recycling treatment plant owned and operated by Inland Empire Utilities 
Agency (IEUA).  The proximity of the facility to RP-4 provides opportunities to optimize staffing 
options and energy usage.   

Living wall at IERCA headquarters 

The 445,275-square foot composting facility is a fully enclosed biosolids processing plant that 
processed approximately 147,606 tons of biosolids and 42,068 tons of wood and green waste into 
232,294 cubic yards (81,103 tons) of high-quality compost during the fiscal year.  

The facility utilizes aerated static pile composting technology to process a mixture of biosolids, 
greenwaste and woodwaste to generate Class ‘A’ Exceptional Quality compost for use in local 
agriculture and horticulture markets. All of the facility’s emissions are treated with a biofilter to meet 
air quality requirements. In FY 2019/2020, a total of 189,674 tons of feedstock, equal to 91% 
permitted capacity, was received by the facility.   

As of June 30, 2020, the IERCA had sold 2.78 million cubic yards of high-quality compost to various 
customers in Southern California, Arizona, and Nevada and processed nearly 2.45 million tons of 
recycled materials. 

For comparison, 2.78 million cubic yards can: 

Fill the Roman Colosseum to the top 1.6 times  

Load 54,000 semi-trucks  

Increase soil health and water retention for 89,089 football fields 

3



The Authority’s Operations – an Overview (continued): 

Throughout the last twelfth years of operation, the Inland Empire Regional Composting Facility 
(IERCF) has operated continuously in full compliance with applicable permits, rules and regulations, 
and has maintained an excellent safety record. 

In the 2019/2020 fiscal year, IERCF projects improved compost quality, production efficiency and 
worker safety. Major projects include:   

• Facility beautification project – Repainted the compost facility and support buildings and
resurfaced the site asphalt.

• Initiated wash pad cover project to improve safety and working conditions on the pad.

• Trommel Screen Replacement project completion– commission of a new trommel screen to
increase uptime and minimize preventive and corrective maintenance.

Future Goals 

The project team will continue to focus on compost market expansion by working with local 
jurisdictions including IEUA member agencies to help them meet state required procurement targets 
by purchasing and using compost.  

The project team also intends to increase the revenue generated from compost sales by expanding 
the volume of higher-valued specialty products including SoilPro bagged compost.  

Basic Financial Statements 

The basic financial statements present a summary of the Authority’s financial position as of June 30, 
2020. The Authority uses full accrual accounting, which recognizes transactions when they occur, 
regardless of when cash is exchanged.  

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2020 reflects the twelfth year of operations for the IERCF. Total operating revenues were 
$8,944,580, a 0.6% decrease from prior year of $8,993,911, while total operating expenses 
increased to $11,767,085, or a 7.4% increase compared to prior year total of $10,957,101. The 
expenses included $3,117,407 of depreciation and amortization expense on capitalized assets. 

4



 

 

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

FY2019/20 FY2018/19

Current assets $5,237,844 $5,854,444 (616,600) -10.53%

Capital & Intangible assets 79,342,860 81,277,808 (1,934,948) -2.38%

   Total Assets 84,580,704 87,132,252 (2,551,548) -2.93%

Current liabilities 2,114,856 1,936,760 178,096 9.20%

   Total Liabilities 2,114,856 1,936,760 178,096 9.20%

Net investment in capital assets 79,342,860 81,277,808 (1,934,948) -2.38%

Unrestricted 3,122,989 3,917,684 (794,695) -20.28%

   Total net position $82,465,849 $85,195,492 ($2,729,643) -3.20%

Operating revenues $8,944,580 $8,993,911 (49,331) -0.55%

Operating expenses (11,767,085) (10,957,101) (809,984) 7.39%

   Net operating income (loss) (2,822,505) (1,963,190) (859,315) 43.77%

Other Non-operating revenues 178,799 108,494 70,305 64.80%

Other Non-operating expenses (85,937) (20,879) (65,058) 311.60%

   Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 92,862 87,615 5,247 5.99%

   Net income (loss) before 

     capital contributions (2,729,643) (1,875,575) (854,068) 45.54%

Total change in net position (2,729,643) (1,875,575) (854,068) 45.54%

Total net position-beginning 85,195,492 87,071,067 (1,875,575) -2.15%

  Total net position- ending $82,465,849 $85,195,492 ($2,729,643) -3.20%

Increase (Decrease)

from FY2018/19

 
 

Changes in Financial Conditions of the Authority 
 

• The net decrease of $616,600 in current assets includes a decrease of $424,068 in cash and 
investments, a decrease of $279,167 in customer receivables, a decrease of $8.981 in 
accrued interest receivable, and an increase of $95,616 in inventory. 

  

5



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued): 

Changes in Financial Conditions of the Authority (continued): 

• The decrease in Capital and Intangible assets of $1,934,948 is primarily due to an increase of
$3,117,407 in accumulated depreciation and amortization, partially offset by an increase of
$311,410 in Jobs in Progress and capital assets of $871,049.

• The decrease of $49,331 in operating revenues is primarily due to a decrease of $197,529 in
biosolids recycling tipping fee revenue, partially offset by an increase of $148,198 in compost
sales.

• The $809,984 increase in operating expenses is mainly due to an increase of $285,562 in
contractual services, an increase of $142,068 in insurance premium paid for commercial
property, an increase of $243,088 in professional services, an increase of $42,838 in bio filter
media, an increase of $36,137 in equipment purchase and rental, and an increase of $37,822
in electricity usage.

Depreciation is the expiration of the service life of capital assets attributable to wear and tear, 
deterioration, and obsolescence. Depreciation expense is the cost of a capital asset prorated over 
the service life of the asset and each period is charged with a portion of the cost. 

Amortization is the gradual reduction, redemption, or liquidation of intangible capital assets over the 
service life of the asset. Amortization expense is the cost of a capital intangible asset prorated over 
the service life of the asset and each period is charged with a portion of the cost. IERCF currently 
has two intangible assets, emission reduction credits and software licenses. 

The contributed capital from LACSD and IEUA was $83,364,402 equally split between the partners.  
Additionally, the JPA partners contributed a total of $15,116,229 for the original property, which 
resulted in a total contribution of $98,480,631.  In FY 2019/2020, each JPA member was charged 
$56 per ton tipping fee for bio-solids deliveries. Orange County Sanitation Districts also delivered 
7,163 tons of biosolids at a fee of $58 per ton. The total net position at June 30, 2020 was 
$82,465,849 compared to $85,195,492 in FY 2018/2019. 

Capital & Intangible Assets 

On June 30, 2020, the Authority had total capital and intangible assets of $79,342,860, net of 
depreciation and amortization. Jobs in progress of $2,366,834 include the cost of all design and 
construction work, and rehabilitation and replacement (R & R) need to maintain and improve the 
facility.  Please refer to Note #3 to the basic financial statements for additional information regarding 
capital asset balances. 

6



 

 

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued): 
 
Investment Summary  
 

The Authority’s investment portfolio is administered by the IEUA staff. The investment strategy 
continues to take a conservative approach consistent with the Authority’s approved Investment 
Policy. 

 

Interest earnings for FY 2019/2020 totaled $62,576, for an average yield of 0.862%. The Authority’s 
short-term investment fund balance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 was $4,196,103 
comprised of $1,246,212 in Sweep Investment Fund with Citizens Business Bank, $274,199 in the 
Los Angeles County Pooled Surplus Investing Fund (LAC PSIF) and $2,101,178 in the Local Agency 
Investment Agency Fund (LAIF). Please see Note #2 of the basic financial statements for additional 
information regarding investment balances. 
 
Contacting the Authority’s Financial Management 
 

This financial report is prepared to provide the Authority’s members, our citizens, customers, 
investors and creditors with a general overview of the Authority’s finances and to demonstrate the 
Authority’s accountability for the revenues it receives. If you have questions about this report or need 
additional financial information, please contact the Inland Empire Utilities Agency, Finance and 
Accounting Department, P.O. Box 9020, Chino Hills, California, 91709.  

 

7



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
OVERVIEW

Financial Statements 

The following Basic Financial Statements, along with the Supplementary Notes to the Basic 
Financial Statements, present a summary of the Authority’s financial position at June 30, 2020, 
and the results of operations and the cash flows of its proprietary fund type for the fiscal year then 
ended. 

The Basic Financial Statements consist of: 

1) Statement of Net Position – the statement denotes the increase/(decrease) of net position
of the Authority.

2) Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – the statement shows
all revenue and expense sources recorded for the period, and their effects on the net
position of the Authority.

3) Statement of Cash Flows – the statement reflects the Authority’s financial activities and
their effect on cash.  It also denotes the cash position of the Authority at the end of the
fiscal period.

4) Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.

8



Statement of Net Position

(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2019)

2020 2019

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & Investments (Note 2) 4,196,103$      4,620,171$     
Accounts receivable 823,985           1,103,152       
Interest receivable 8,016 16,998            
Other receivables 939 939
Inventory 208,801           113,184          

Total current assets 5,237,844        5,854,444       

Noncurrent assets

Land 4,285,096        4,285,096       
Jobs in progress 2,366,834        2,055,425       
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 71,869,301      74,091,037     
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 821,629           846,250          

Total capital assets 79,342,860      81,277,808     

Total noncurrent assets 79,342,860      81,277,808     

Total assets 84,580,704      87,132,252     

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable     2,042,794        1,877,684       
Accrued liabilities other 4,109 681
Retentions payable 67,953             58,395            

      Total current liabilities 2,114,856        1,936,760       

      Total liabilities 2,114,856        1,936,760       

NET POSITION

   Net investment in capital assets 79,342,860      81,277,808     
   Unrestricted 3,122,989        3,917,684       

       Total net position 82,465,849$    85,195,492$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements

Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 

June 30, 2020

Totals

9



(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2019)

2020 2019

Operating revenues

Biosolids Recycling Tipping Fees 8,345,998$      8,543,527$     
Sale of compost 598,582           450,384          

      Total operating revenues 8,944,580        8,993,911       

Operating expenses

  Operations and maintenance 7,742,128        6,975,035       

Administration and general 907,550           888,890          

Depreciation and amortization 3,117,407        3,093,176       

      Total operating expenses 11,767,085      10,957,101     

      Operating income (loss) (2,822,505)       (1,963,190)      

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Interest income 121,553           104,525          
Other nonoperating revenues 57,246             3,969              
Other nonoperating expenses (85,937)            (20,879)           

      Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 92,862             87,615            

      Income (loss) before capital contributions (2,729,643)       (1,875,575)      

     Change in net position (2,729,643)       (1,875,575)      

Total net position - beginning 85,195,492      87,071,067     

Total net position - ending 82,465,849$    85,195,492$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Totals

Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

10



Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2020

2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  Cash received from customers $9,128,130 $8,595,054
  Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (4,275,752) (3,747,788)
  Cash payments for contract labor (4,205,388) (3,990,820)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 646,990 856,446

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Contract reimbursement from other (Other Non Op Rev) 57,246 3,969
  Cash paid to others (Other Non Op Exp) (85,937) (20,879)

    Net cash provided by (used for) noncapital financing activities (28,691) (16,910)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES
  Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,182,459) (2,166,878)
  Changes in contractor deposits/retentions 9,557 58,394

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing 
activities (1,172,902) (2,108,484)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest on investments 130,535 91,020

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 130,535 91,020

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (424,068) (1,177,927)

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 4,620,171 5,798,098
Cash and cash equivalents - ending $4,196,103 $4,620,171

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements

(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2019)

Totals

11



Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2019)

2020 2019

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH 
PROVIDED  FOR (USED BY) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss) ($2,822,505) ($1,963,190)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities 

Depreciation and amortization 3,117,407 3,093,176

(Increase) decrease in operating assets
Accounts receivable 279,167 (290,772)
Other receivable 0 (804)
Inventory (95,617) (107,281)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities
Accounts payable 165,110 125,738
Other accrued liabilities 3,428 (421)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $646,990 $856,446

RECONCILIATION OF CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS TO THE 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Cash $574,514 $545,664

Short-term investments 3,621,589 4,074,507

Total cash, short-term investments, and restricted cash $4,196,103 $4,620,171

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements

Totals

12



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY 

Index of Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

JUNE 30, 2020 

Note 1    Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies .................. 15 

Note 2   Cash and Investments .................................................................................... 19 

Note 3    Changes in Capital Assets .............................................................................. 22 

Note 4    Subsequent Event .......................................................................................... 23 

13



 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
 

(1)  Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 
 
Description of the Reporting Entity 
 

The Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority, a Joint Powers Authority (JPA), was formed in 
February of 2002. The JPA consists of two partners, Inland Empire Utilities Agency (IEUA), a 
municipal water district in California, and Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts (LACSD), a special 
district organized and operating pursuant to the County Sanitation District Act, Health and Safety 
Code Section 4700, et seq.  All capital contribution investments related to the JPA are shared equally 
by both partners.  Beginning FY 2009/2010 the Authority implemented a cost of service rate (tipping 
fees) to support the operational costs. Tipping fees paid by each JPA partner are based on the 
tonnage of biosolids shipped to the facility for recycling. As defined by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America and the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB), the financial reporting entity consists of the Authority as the primary government.  The 
Authority has no legally separate component units that require blended or discrete presentation. 

 

Subject to the limitations imposed by the Constitution of California, and pursuant to its charter, all 
powers of the Authority not defined are vested in a six-member Board of Directors. For the purposes 
of transacting business of the Board, a quorum shall consist of four of the six members of the Board, 
provided that there is a minimum of two Board members from each partner. The principal office of 
the Authority is established by resolution of the Board. The Authority has appointed a Secretary, a 
Treasurer and a Project Manager. The appointed officers come from the membership of the 
Authority.  

 

The accounting policies of the Authority conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America as they relate to governmental units.  The Authority applies all relevant 
GASB pronouncements.   
 
Fund Accounting 
 

The accounts of the Authority are organized on the basis of funds.  All transactions are accounted 
for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, net position, 
revenues and expenses, as appropriate, the Authority’s accounts for its activities in an “Enterprise 
Fund”.  An Enterprise Fund is grouped and presented in the financial statements as a “Proprietary 
Fund Type”. 
 
Proprietary Fund Types 
 

A Proprietary Fund is accounted for on a cost of services or "capital maintenance" measurement 
focus. This means that all assets and all liabilities (whether current or non-current) associated with 
their activity are included on the statement of net position.  Their reported fund equity (net position) 
is segregated into capital assets (net of related debt) and restricted and unrestricted net position.   
Proprietary fund type operating statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) 
in total net position. 
 
  

14



(1) Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):

Proprietary Fund Types (continued):   

Enterprise Funds 

An Enterprise Fund is used to account for operations: (a) that are financed and operated 
in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the governing body 
is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation and amortization) of providing goods or 
services to the general public on a continuing basis, be financed or recovered primarily 
through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic 
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate for 
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or other purposes. 

Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to the timing when revenues and expenses are recognized in the 
accounts, and reported in the financial statements, regardless of the measurement focus applied.  
The Authority prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual 
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when 
liabilities are incurred regardless of when the related cash flows take place. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses 

Operating revenues relate to revenue transactions generated as a direct result of the core business 
in which the Authority is engaged. These transactions can be repetitive in nature within the normal 
business cycle. Examples include biosolids recycling, compost delivery services, compost sales and 
the sale of renewable energy credits.  Non-operating revenues are transactions incurred infrequently, 
during the course of the Authority’s business. These types of transaction are generally not directly 
related to the general business of the Authority, such as 1) interest earnings; 2) gain on sales of 
assets; and 3) miscellaneous other revenues. 

The Authority classifies expense types based upon the goods and/or services directly related to the 
operations of the Authority. Typically, operating expenses include such items as operations, 
maintenance, and administrative costs.  In contrast, non-operating expenses are not directly related 
to the Authority’s core operations, such as interest expense and the cost of financial services. 

Budgetary Policy and Control 

The Authority's Board approves each year's budget submitted by the Treasurer prior to the beginning 
of the new fiscal year. The Authority is not required to present budget comparisons; therefore 
budgetary data is not presented in the accompanying financial statements. 

The Authority maintains budgetary controls to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in 
the appropriated budget approved by the Board. All appropriations which are not obligated, 
encumbered, or expended at the end of the fiscal year lapse at year-end, except for multi-year capital 
appropriations. Any encumbrance and commitments needed to support ongoing projects or activities 
are carried forward to the following fiscal year following Board approval. 

15



(1) Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):

Cash and Investments 

Investments in short-term highly liquid debt instruments that have a remaining maturity at the time of 
purchase of one year or less are reported at amortized cost.  Investments are carried at fair value. 

For financial presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents are shown within cash and short-
term investments. 

Receivables and Payables 

All receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. The Authority extends credit 
to customers in the normal course of operations.  Management has evaluated the accounts and 
approved an allowance for uncollectible accounts of $22,119 for the fiscal year ended at June 30, 
2020. When an account is determined to be uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
following Board approval. 

Capital Assets 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. The cost of a capital investment includes purchase, 
rehabilitation or construction costs, Authority labor for engineering, construction management and 
administrative activities, as well as ancillary expenses necessary to make productive use of the 
assets.  Current capitalization thresholds are reflected in the following table: 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend asset useful lives are not capitalized.   

Improvements are capitalized and depreciated, as applicable, over the remaining useful life of the 
related capital assets.  Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value. 

Type of  Total Estimated Increases Enhances 

Expenditure Cost Life 
Estimated 

Life Performance 

Office Equipment ≥ $5,000 > 1 Year N/A N/A 

Computer Equipment ≥ $1,000 > 1 Year N/A N/A 

Other Equipment ≥ $5,000 > 1 Year N/A N/A 
Single Year Capital 
Projects ≥ $5,000 ≥ 3 Years N/A N/A 
Multi Year Capital 
Projects  ≥ $15,000 ≥ 3 Years N/A N/A 

16



 

 

 

(1) Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued): 
 
Capital Assets (continued): 
 

Depreciation and amortization of capital assets has been provided on a straight-line basis.  One-half 
year depreciation and amortization are recorded in the year of acquisition and disposal. 
  

Estimated useful lives are:    Furniture, machinery and equipment   3 - 15  years 

  Improvements                15  years 

   Buildings and plants             5 - 50  years 

   Intangible Assets                         3 - 50  years   

 

Comparative Data 

 

The basic financial statements include certain prior years summarized comparative information in 
total but not at the level of detail required for a presentation in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the 
Authority’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019 from which the summarized data 
was derived. 

  

Risk Management 

 

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Authority secures 
liability, boiler and machinery insurance to protect itself from any risk exposure, relative to its 
business operations.  Since the Authority has no employees and the operations and management 
of its facility is contracted out to IEUA, worker’s compensation insurance is carried by IEUA. 
 

 General and auto liability:  The Authority retains the risk of loss for general liability, and errors and 
omissions claim of up to $5,000,000 per person per occurrence coverage, subject to a $10,000 
deductible per occurrence.  
 

 IERCF is included in the Districts’ excess liability policy which increases the coverage stated above to 
$25M in total 

 

In addition to the above, the Authority has the following insurance coverage: 

w 
 Property damage has an $75,000,000 per occurrence coverage limit, subject to a $100,000 deductible 

per occurrence.   
 

Settled claims from the risks discussed herein have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage 
in any of the last three fiscal years ending June 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018.  

17



(2) Cash and Investments

Cash Deposits 

The Authority’s cash accounts are maintained with financial institutions that provide deposit 
protection for the account balance through participation in the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(FDIC).  The California Government Code (CGC§53652 and 53667) requires banks and savings and 
loan associations to secure local agency deposits by placing appropriate and adequate securities as 
collateral with an approved trustee. 

For deposits in commercial banks, the California Government Code allows the Authority to waive the 
preceding requirement for that portion of each deposit insured pursuant to the FDIC regulations; with 
the remainder of the deposit being secured by collateral (U. S. Government Securities) with a market 
value of at least ten percent (10%) greater than that remaining amount.  The Authority has chosen 
to enter into these agreements.  

In addition, the Authority investment policy requires financial institutions to meet other minimum 
criteria. Financial institutions must: (a) have been in business for at least three years; have total 
assets in excess of ten ($10) billion dollars; and a core capital/asset ratio of five percent (5%) or 
better; or, (b) have total assets in excess of five hundred million dollars ($500,000,000); and a core 
capital/asset ratio of six percent (6%) or better.  State statutes and the Authority's investment policy 
authorize the Authority to maintain cash deposits in demand accounts, savings accounts, and in 
certificates of deposit. 

The custodial credit for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty 
(e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its 
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. The California 
Government Code and the Authority’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements 
that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other than as 
required for the California Government Code for deposits.  

The investment in the Repurchase Agreement is uninsured with the collateral for the repurchase 
agreement held in the name of Citizens Business Bank but not in the name of the Authority. 

The bank balance reflects the amount credited by a financial institution to the Authority's account as 
opposed to the Authority's own ledger balance for the account.  The carrying value reflects the ledger 
balance, which includes checks written by the Authority that have not cleared the bank as of June 
30, 2020. 

Investments 

In FY 2019/2020, the Authority invested in the Los Angeles County Pooled Surplus Investment Fund 
(LAC PSIF), which is also managed by Los Angeles County Investment Officer. The Authority invests 
in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), which is an investment pool managed by the Treasurer 
of the State of California.  The Authority’s investments are reported at amortized cost in the balance 
sheet. The market value of the Authority’s investments constitutes one hundred percent (100%) of 
investments and equals the net realizable value of the Authority’s share of LAIF and LAC PSIF. LAIF 
and LAC PSIF are authorized by California statutes to enter into investments on behalf of 
municipalities within California.  

State statutes and the Authority's investment policy also allows the Authority to invest (short-term 
and long-term) in U.S. Treasury Obligations, U.S. agency issues and instrumentalities, commercial 
paper rated A-1 by Standard and Poor's Corporation or P-1 by Moody's Commercial Paper Records, 
negotiable certificate of deposit, LAIF and medium-term notes. 

18



2020 2019 

Statement of Net Position: 

 Cash & Investments $4,196,103 $4,620,171 

Total Cash and Investments $4,196,103 $4,620,171 

(2) Cash and Investments (continued):

Cash and Investments 

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2020 are classified in the accompanying financial statements 
as follows: 

Investments Authorized by the California Governmental Code and the Authority’s Investment 
Policy 

The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the Authority by the Authority’s 
investment policy. The table also identifies certain provisions of the Authority’s investment policy that 
address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk.  

Maximum Maximum 

Authorized Maximum Percentage Investment 

Investment Type3 Maturity of Portfolio One Issuer 

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None 

U.S. Agency Securities 5 years None None 

State Treasury Obligations 5 years 10% None 

Local Agency Obligations 5 years None None 

Commercial Paper 270 days 20% 10% 

Negotiable/Placement Certificates of Deposits 5 years 30% None 

Repurchase Agreements 90 days 40% None 

Medium-Term Notes 5 years 30% None 

Money Market Funds N/A 20% 10% 

Local Agency Investment Fund  N/A $75M None 

Local Agency Investment Pools N/A None None 

Bank Deposits N/A None None 

Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its 
fair value to changes in market interest rates.   

19



Minimum 

Investment Type Value Legal Rating Unrated 

Los Angeles County Investment 
Pooled Investment Fund 

$    274,199 
N/A 

$    274,199 

Repurchase Agreement     1,246,212 N/A     1,246,212 

Local Agency Investment Fund 2,101,178 N/A     2,101,178 

   Total $    3,621,589 $    3,621,589 

(2) Cash and Investments (continued):

Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk (continued): 

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Authority’s investments to market interest 
rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the Authority’s 
investment by maturity:  

Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization.  Presented below is the minimum rating required by the Authority’s 
investment policy, and the actual Standard and Poor’s rating as of fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 
for each investment type: 

 

Fair Value Measurement (GASB 72) 

The information below shows the Authority’s investments fair value measurements (market 
approach) as of June 30, 2020.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date under 
current market conditions. 

Remaining Maturity 
(In Months) 

Investment Type Fair Value 12 or Less 

Los Angeles County Investment Pooled Investment 
Fund 

$   274,199 $    274,199 

Repurchase Agreement   1,246,212   1,246,212 

Local Agency Investment Fund 2,101,178 2,101,178 

   Total $    3,621,589 $ 3,621,589 

Investments by Fair Value Level June 30, 2020 Level 1 (A) Level 2 (B) Uncategorized

Los Angeles County Investment Pooled 

Investment Fund

274,199$   274,199$   

Repurchase Agreement 1,246,212 1,246,212      

Local Agency Investment Fund 2,101,178       2,101,178

 Total 3,621,589$   -$  1,520,411$    2,101,178$     

(A) Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
(B) Level 2 - Quoted prices in active markets for significant other observable inputs

20



(3) Changes in Capital Assets

The following is a summary of capital assets, jobs in progress and intangible assets at June 30, 
2020:  

Capital assets

Balance at 

6/30/2019 Additions

 Transfers, 

Sales & 

Retirements

Balance at 

6/30/2020

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

 Land $4,285,096 $0 $0 $4,285,096

 Jobs in progress 2,055,425 1,182,459 (871,049) 2,366,835

Total capital assets, not being depreciated $6,340,521 $1,182,459 ($871,049) $6,651,931

Capital assets, being depreciated:

 Facility 10,831,133 0 0 10,831,133

 Structures & improvements 72,110,700 486,938 0 72,597,638

 Operations equipment 17,946,890 384,111 0 18,331,001

Total capital assets, being depreciated $100,888,723 $871,049 $0 $101,759,772

Less accumulated depreciation for:

 Facility (2,491,162) (216,623) 0 (2,707,785)

 Structures & improvements (16,210,666) (1,484,285) 0 (17,694,950)

 Operations equipment (8,095,859) (1,391,878) (9,487,737)

 Total accumulated depreciation ($26,797,686) ($3,092,786) $0 ($29,890,472)

 Total capital assets, being depreciated, net $74,091,037 ($2,221,737) $0 $71,869,300

Intangible assets, being amortized:

 Capacity rights 1,037,088 0 0 1,037,088

Total intangible assets, being amortized $1,037,088 $0 $0 $1,037,088

Less accumulated amortization for:

 Capacity rights (190,838) (24,621) 0 (215,459)

 Total accumulated amortization ($190,838) ($24,621) $0 ($215,459)

 Total capital assets, being amortized, net $846,250 ($24,621) $0 $821,629

Total capital assets, net $81,277,808 ($1,063,899) ($871,049) $79,342,860

In FY 2019/20, the Authority added $1,182,459 assets as Job in Progress, transferred $871,049 to 
capital assets being depreciated, and increased Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization by 
$3,117,407.  The ending balance of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization for all capital 
assets has been adjusted for rounding to the Statement of Net Position for FY 2019/2020. 

21



IERCF Team SoilPro 

(3) Changes in Capital Assets (continued):

Jobs in Progress 

As of fiscal Year-end June 30, 2020, the Authority had seven capital modification and improvement 
projects and sub-projects in progress. 

IERCF Trommel Screen Improvements 1,447,551$   
IERCF Building Improvements 332,173
RCA Capital Replacement 193,596
RCA Exterior Paint 153,750
IERCF Belt Conveyor Improvements 137,166
IERCF Pug Mill Improvements 52,075
IERCF Transition Air Duct Improvements 45,576
Glulam Repair Project - Roof Repair 3,636
RCA Compost Storage Conveyor Project 1,311

Total Jobs in Progress 2,366,835$  

(4) Subsequent Events

In preparing these financial statements, the Authority has evaluated events and transactions for 
potential recognition or disclosure through February 1, 2021, the date financial statements were 
available to be issued, and found no subsequent event. 

22



Damaged Glulam Repair Project



6075 K imbal l  Avenue
Chino,  C A 91708

P.O.  B ox  9020
Chino H i l l s ,  C A 91709

tel  909 .993.1600
fax  909.993.1986

w w w. ieua .org

LOS ANGELES COUNTY
SANITATION DISTRICTS

1955 Wor k man M i l l  R oad
Whitt ier,  C A 90601

P.O.  B ox  4998
Whitt ier,  C A 90607

tel  562 .699.7411
fax  562.699.5422

w w w. lacsd.org

INLAND EMPIRE
UTILITIES AGENCY



12645 Sixth Street
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91739

www.ierca.org

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL
COMPOSTING AUTHORITY 

P.O. Box 2470
Chino Hills, CA 91709

tel 909.993.1500
fax 909.993.1510

2020



           ACTION 
ITEM 

 3C 

 



Inland Empire Utilities Agency                                  Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Date:        February 1, 2021 
 
To:      Honorable Board of Directors 
 
From:      Jeff Ziegenbein 
        Project Manager 
         
Subject:      On-Call Construction Service Contractors 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors: 
 

1. Approve the awarding of Master Services Contracts with two as-needed/on-call 
construction service contractors for a not-to-exceed annual aggregate amount of 
$300,000 to be used as needed between both contractors; and 

 
2. Authorize the Project Manager to finalize and execute the Contracts. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Inland Empire Regional Composting Facility (IERCF) requires construction contractors to 
assist with a variety of plant maintenance requirements, small project activities, and emergency 
repair services. When internal labor is not available, or specialty services are required, a general 
contractor is needed to assist with tasks, projects, and repairs. The frequency of the need increases 
as the facility ages, prompting the need to enter into agreements with two or more service providers 
who can be directed to perform a variety of tasks on short notice and to serve on-call for emergency 
repairs. The contractors will allow the IERCF to have flexibility on service provider selection to 
ensure competitive pricing and prompt responses.   
 
On November 4, 2020 staff issued a Request for Proposal RFP-RW-20-005 through the PlanetBids 
Network online solicitation system.  Three (3) proposals were received from the following 
contractors: R&S Industrial Field Services (R&S), Innovative Construction Solutions (ICS), and 
Hemet Manufacturing, dba Genesis Construction.  
 
 
An evaluation committee was assembled to review the proposals. The RFP listed preset wages and 
rental rates so no pricing comparisons were required. The proposals were reviewed to determine 
best qualified based on previous work experience, available equipment, and work history. Two of 
the proposers, R&S and Genesis, have previously done work at the IERCF and members of the 



February 1, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency             Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

evaluation team were familiar with their work. The remaining proposer, ICS, had not worked at 
the IERCF but listed references including LACSD. Interviews with ICS and the Project Manager 
at LACSD led the evaluation team to consider ICS to be a capable and willing contractor. The 
evaluation team unanimously agreed that R&S and ICS be selected as best choices to provide on 
call construction services for the IERCF.  

Both contractors have extensive experience in construction services as well as credible references. 
They will be required to respond to job solicitations and will be selected on an ongoing basis based 
on their ability to:  

• Respond in a timely manner
• Perform millwright work
• Perform welding activities
• Perform minor construction work including framing, drywall and concrete
• Perform minor maintenance work on conveyors, hoppers and heavy equipment
• Perform plumbing and piping installation and repair

After a thorough review of the responses staff determined that R&S Field Services and Innovative 
Construction Solutions were sufficiently qualified and therefore recommends awarding each of 
them a contract. 

PRIOR BOARD ACTION 

The IERCA Board of Directors approved the award of two contracts for on call minor construction 
services for a total of $300,000 per year on November 7, 2016.  

IMPACT ON BUDGET  

There are sufficient funds in the approved FY 20/21 budget to cover the contract services.   



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 1 of 22 
12/24/2020 

 
 

MASTER SERVICES CONTRACT NUMBER:  4600002994 
 

FOR PROVISION OF 
 

MINOR CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE SERVICES 
 

THIS CONTRACT (the “Contract”), is made and entered into this ____ day of _______________, 
2021, by and between the Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority, a Joint Powers Authority 
organized and existing in the County of San Bernardino under and by virtue of the laws of the 
State of California (hereinafter referred to interchangeably as “Authority,” “IERCA”, and 
“IERCF”), and R & S Industrial Field Services Inc., with offices located in Victorville, California 
(hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”), in order to establish mutually acceptable terms and 
conditions which shall hold for and govern all “Task Order” releases subsequently issued under this 
Master Services Contract. 
 

RECITALS 
 
Whereas Authority anticipates future needs to retain the services of Contractor to provide minor 
construction and maintenance services on an “as needed” Task Order assignment basis; 
 
Whereas Contractor is willing to undertake performance of such Task Order assignments for which 
the terms and conditions set forth herein shall apply;  
 
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations set forth herein, the parties 
hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE:  The documents referenced below constitute the Agreement 

Documents and are each hereby incorporated herein.  In the event of any conflicts or 
inconsistencies between any of the Contract Documents, the governing order of precedence 
shall be as follows: 

 
 1. Amendments to Task Order releases under this Master Services Contract. 
 2.    Task Order releases under this Master Services Contract. 
 3. Amendments to this Master Services Contract. 
 4.  Master Services Contract Number 4600002994, General Terms and Conditions. 
 5. Authority’s Request for Proposals Number RFP-RW-20-005, attached hereto and 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 2 of 22 
12/24/2020 

made a part hereof as Exhibit 1. 
 6.   Contractor’s Proposal dated December 9, 2020, attached hereto and made a part 

hereof as Exhibit 2.  
 
2. SCOPE OF WORK AND SERVICES:  Contractor shall provide all labor, materials, tools, 

machinery, equipment, and other items and services necessary to properly perform any 
work (hereinafter referred to as the “Work”) as set for in each individual on-call request or 
Task Order agreed to and released under this Master Services Contract, including exhibits 
and amendments hereto.  The Work shall be carried out in accordance with the Contract 
Documents in a diligent and workman-like manner, utilizing qualified personnel and good 
and sufficient materials and equipment.  Subject equipment shall be covered by a signed 
copy of Authority’s “Waiver / Release of Liability” form (previously submitted as part of  
Exhibit 2). Further, Contractor shall perform only those work assignments authorized by on-
call requests or Task Orders issued in conjunction with this Contract, or as otherwise 
directed by the IERCF Project Manager for completion of emergency projects, prior to Task 
Order completion. 

 
Ordering Provisions and Understandings: 
 
Negotiation of Task Orders:  Authority and Contractor each reserve and retain the right to 
negotiate the Work, price, and term of any specific on-call request or Task Order.  However, 
both parties agree that the various proposed labor and expense rates used to develop each 
Task Order’s price shall be consistent with those specified referencing the Exhibit A 
Reimbursement Schedule. 
 
Task Order Price: The price for each Task Order shall be addressed and authorized via the 
content of each specific Task Order. 
 
Task Order Format:  Each Task Order issued under this Master Services Contract shall be 
of similar form to the Example Task Order that is included herein as Exhibit B – Sample 
Task Order. 
 
Task Order On-call Maintenance Protocol:  
 
If/when an emergency arises, the IERCF Project Manager or a designated staff member 
shall email out a request of availability, to all contractors on the On-Call Maintenance and 
Minor Construction Services Contract, identifying the emergency situation and request 
whether the contractor is able to respond within the time period indicated.  The contractor 
shall provide a response which includes the original email subject line request name 
or respond to the original e-mail request on whether they are able to respond or not, for 
record keeping purposes.  The Contractor shall indicate in the response the Subject date 
and time they are available to meet.  Failure to place subject line from request in response 
and date and time Contractor is available to meet will result in Authority responding to 
next responsible/responding Contractor. 

The IERCF Project Manager or a designated staff member shall identify contractor for 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 3 of 22 
12/24/2020 

award of the emergency work and issue a verbal or emailed notice to proceed.  The first 
contractor to respond and be available to meet shall be asked to provide a not-to-exceed 
cost for use in establishing a limit for the project.  Contractor’s rates for emergency work 
shall be based on the current Caltrans Equipment Rental Rates and the California 
Department of Labor’s (DOL) Department of Industrial Relations (DIR) General Prevailing 
Wage Determination for the type of work being performed, or as negotiated between the 
contractor and Authority’s Project Manager.  Contractor shall complete Daily Reports and 
submit to Authority for approval on a daily basis. 

If, or when, changes in work are identified, it shall be the responsibility of the contractor 
to submit a revised not-to-exceed cost, so that the Authority may obtain proper 
authorization for spending additional Authority monies.  Failure to do so may result in the 
Authority declining to pay any cost above the not-to-exceed cost.  Contractor must be 
within one and one-half (1.5) hours from the site.  Failure to be able to meet within the 
time specified may lead to selection of the respondent who is best able to meet the 
Authority’s immediate emergency request.   

Failure to provide a response or to be available over a number of requests, may also lead 
to removal from the On-Call Maintenance and Minor Construction Services Contract, at 
the discretion of the Manager of Regional Compost Operations.  

Subsequent to completion of emergency repair work, contractor shall submit a summary 
of all changes/expenses incurred in conjunction with the repair to the Authority’s Project 
Manager or designated staff member for review and approval.  All receipts must be 
attached along with required payroll information.  Upon mutual agreement between the 
two parties as to the total costs incurred, Authority shall subsequently issue an “after-the-
fact” written Task Order release to Contractor for signature and return, via DocuSign, to 
authorize the payment of the agreed-to-costs. 

Any work that shall be needed to be performed off-site (e.g. permitting, engineering, 
fabrication or pick-up and transportation of materials) shall be authorized by the Authority 
prior to work occurring.  It shall be the Contractor’s responsibility to keep the Authority 
fully informed as to cost and need for off-site work so that time may be approved on the 
Daily Report.  

The Authority reserves the right to dictate how work is to be performed and what 
equipment and manpower is required to complete said task. 

 
TASK ORDER MAINTENANCE PROTOCOL  

As each need for planned work arises, a Request for Proposal (RFP) shall be forwarded 
to all contractors (participating in the On-Call Maintenance and Minor Construction 
Services Contracts) for the purpose of obtaining a competitive bid/proposal.  A mandatory 
job walk may be held as part of any solicitation.  If the contractor desires to propose for 
the work, the contractor shall respond, within the requested number of working days from 
receipt of Authority’s solicitation, not to be less than five (5) working days, with submittal 
of a price and or technical proposal (if applicable), to perform the requested service(s).  
This proposal shall be reviewed and, if selected by the Authority, negotiated as required 
to develop mutually-agreed-upon Task Order content and price.  Each Task Order shall 



__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 4 of 22 
12/24/2020 

designate a specific scope of work, schedule, firm-fixed or not-to-exceed compensation, 
and other specifications and terms particular to the work.  Upon agreement and execution 
by both parties, the Task Order shall be released, and the Contractor may begin 
performance of the work provided for under the executed Task Order.  Failure to execute 
a Task Order within a reasonable amount of time (e.g., 5 days) may be used as the basis 
of selecting the second-lowest cost/proposal, etcetera, until a Task Order can be 
executed. 

If changes in scope are needed during the course of the work, a change order shall be 
negotiated.  If no agreement on a change order can be agreed to, and force account is 
directed, provisions of Exhibit A would apply.  

Failure to fulfill the terms or intent of the work may be used as a basis of terminating the 
Contractor from the On-Call Maintenance and Minor Construction Services Contract. 

3. TERM:  The term of this Contract shall extend from the date of the Project Manager’s Notice
to Proceed and terminate on December 31, 2022, unless agreed to by both parties, reduced
to writing, and formally incorporated as an amendment to this Contract. Authority reserves
the right to extend five (5) optional one-year term extensions to this Contract, subject to
mutual negotiation, not to exceed seven (7) years total from the date of award.

4. SCHEDULE:  Contractor shall complete the Work specified by each Task Order in
accordance with the schedule established within said Task Order.  All Work shall be fully
finished no later than the date specified in said Task Order, unless terminated sooner or
extended as provided for therein.

5. INVOICING, PAYMENT DISCOUNT & PAYMENT:  Contractor’s invoices shall be based on
Contractor’s firm-fixed price bid for each specified Task Order, or time and expenses
accrued for emergency work. Any subsequent field change orders shall have Contractor’s
bid approved in advance by Authority’s IERCF Project Manager, reduced to writing by
Construction Management’s field change order, and signed by both parties. Emergency
work shall be based on the Caltrans Equipment Rental Rates and the California Department
of Industrial Relations General Prevailing Wage Determinations available at the time the
work is authorized, as negotiated between the parties, and as per mark-ups noted in Exhibit
A, and the not-to-exceed authorization.

Authority shall pay the full/approved invoice amount within thirty (30) days following receipt of the 
invoice.  Payment shall be withheld for any service which does not meet the requirements of this 
Contract or the associated Task Order, until such service is revised, the invoice resubmitted, and 
accepted by the Project Manager. Contractor’s invoices shall include reference to the associated 
Task Order Number. All original invoices shall be submitted to APGroup@ieua.org . 

6. COMPENSATION AND CHANGES: As compensation for the Work satisfactorily performed
against Task Order releases under this Contract, Authority shall pay Contractor’s firm-fixed
price bid for each executed Task Order.   Any additional Work or services shall be authorized
in advance by Authority’s Project Manager, reduced to writing by a Construction
Management field change order, and signed by both parties. Emergency compensation



__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 5 of 22 
12/24/2020 

shall be based on the Caltrans Equipment Rental Rates and the California Department of 
Industrial Relations General Prevailing Wage Determinations available at the time the work 
is authorized, as negotiated between the parties. 

Authority may, at any time, make changes to the Scope of Work, including additions, 
reductions, and changes to any or all of the Work, as directed in writing via a Task Change 
Order issued by Authority and executed by both Parties.  The Task Order Change Order 
shall, if warranted, convey any associated change to the established Task Order price 
and/or schedule.  

7. CONTROL OF THE WORK:  Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the Task
Order-specified Work Schedule.  If performance of the Work falls behind schedule,
Contractor shall accelerate the performance of the Work to comply with the Work Schedule
as directed by the Project Manager. If the nature of the Work is such that Contractor is
unable to accelerate the Work, Contractor shall promptly notify the Project Manager of the
delay, the causes of the delay, and submit a proposed revised Work Schedule for
consideration by the Project Manager.

8. FITNESS FOR DUTY:

A. Fitness:  Contractor’s personnel on the Jobsite:

1. Shall report for work in a manner fit to do their job;

2. Shall not be under the influence of or in possession of any alcoholic beverages
or of any controlled substance (except a controlled substance as prescribed
by a physician so long as the performance or safety of the Work is not affected
thereby); and

3. Shall not have been convicted of any serious criminal offense which, by its
nature, may have a discernible adverse impact on the business or reputation
of Authority.

4. Confined Space Work:

I. Precautions and Programs:

a. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining, and
supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with
the work or the activities of subcontractors, suppliers, and others at
the work site.

b. The Contractors and subcontractors shall comply with the
provisions of the Safety and Health Regulations for Construction,
promulgated by the Secretary of Labor under Section 107 of the
“Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act,” as set forth in Title
29 C.F.R. If the Authority is notified of an alleged violation of the
Occupational Safety and Health Standards referred to in this Section



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 6 of 22 
12/24/2020 

and it is established that there is a violation, the Contractor shall be 
subject to liquidated damages as provided in the Contract. 

 c. The Contractor and all subcontractors shall comply with the 
provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Standards, 
promulgated by the United States Secretary of Labor under the 
"Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970," as set forth in Title 29, 
C.F.R. Where an individual State act on occupational safety and 
health standards has been approved by federal authority, then the 
provisions of said state act shall control. 

d. The Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety 
of, and shall provide the necessary supervision, control, and 
direction to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1) All employees on the work or work site and other persons 
and organizations who may be affected thereby; 

2) All the work and materials and equipment to be 
incorporated 
therein, whether in storage or on or off the work site; and 

     3) All other property at the site. 

e. Contract work requiring confined space entry must follow Cal-
OSHA Regulation 8 CCR, Sections 5157 - 5158. This regulation 
requires the following to be submitted to IEUA for approval prior to 
the start of the project: 

1) Proof of training on confined space procedures, as defined in 
Cal-OSHA Regulation 8 CCR, Section 5157. This regulation 
also requires the following to be submitted to IEUA for 
approval prior to the entry of a confined space: 

2) A written plan that includes identification of confined spaces 
within the construction site, alternate procedures where 
appropriate, contractor provisions, specific procedures for 
permit-required and non-permit required spaces, and a 
rescue plan. 

f. The Contractor must also submit a copy of their Safety Program or 
IIPP prior to the start of the project for approval by the Safety & Risk 
Department. 

 
9. INSURANCE:  During the term of this Contract, the Consultant shall maintain at Consultant's 

sole expense, the following insurance. 
 

A. Minimum Scope of Insurance:  Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 
 

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL):  Insurance Services Office (ISO) Form 
CG 00 01 covering CGL on an “occurrence” basis, including products and 
completed operations, property damage, bodily injury and personal & 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 7 of 22 
12/24/2020 

advertising injury with limits no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. If a 
general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply 
separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general 
aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.   

 
2. Automobile Liability:  ISO Form Number CA 00 01 covering any auto (Code 

1), or if Consultant has no owned autos, covering hired, (Code 8) and non-
owned autos (Code 9), with limit no less than $1,000,000 per accident for 
bodily injury and property damage. 

 
3. Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability:  Workers' compensation 

limits as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and 
Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per 
accident for bodily injury or disease. 

 
4. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions): Insurance appropriate to the 

Consultant’s profession, with limit no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or 
claim, $2,000,000 aggregate. 

 
B. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retention:  Any deductibles or self-insured retention 

must be declared to and approved by the Authority.  At the option of the Authority, 
either:  the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retention 
as respects the Authority, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers; or the 
Consultant shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related 
investigations, claims administration and defense expenses. 

 
C. Other Insurance Provisions:  The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed 

to contain, the following provisions: 
 

1. General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverage 
 
a. Additional Insured Status:  The Authority, its officers, officials, employees, 

and volunteers are to be covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy 
with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed by or 
on behalf of the Consultant including materials, parts or equipment 
furnished in connection with such work or operations. General liability 
coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the 
Consultant’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or 
both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 forms if 
later revisions used). 

 
b. Primary Coverage:  The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary 

insurance coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects 
the Authority, its officer, officials, employees and volunteers.  Any 
insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Authority, its officers, 
officials, employees, volunteers, property owners or engineers under 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 8 of 22 
12/24/2020 

contract with the Authority shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance 
and shall not contribute with it. 

 
c. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not 

affect coverage provided to the Authority, its officers, officials, employees 
or volunteers. 

 
d. The Consultant's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 

whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of 
the insurer's liability. 

 
e. The Consultant may satisfy the limit requirements in a single policy or 

multiple policies.  Any such additional policies written as excess insurance 
shall not provide any less coverage than that provided by the first or 
primary policy. 

 
2. Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability Coverage 

 
The insurer hereby grants to Authority a waiver of any right to subrogation 
which any insurer of said Consultant may acquire against the Authority by 
virtue of the payment of any loss under such insurance.  Consultant agrees to 
obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of 
subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the 
Authority has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer. 

 
3. All Coverages 

 
Each insurance policy required by this contract shall be endorsed to state that 
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, reduced 
in coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the Authority. 

 
D. Acceptability of Insurers:  All insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current 

A.M. Best's rating of no less than A-:VII, and who are admitted insurers in the State 
of California.   

 
E. Verification of Coverage:  Consultant shall furnish the Authority with original 

certificates and amendatory endorsements or copies of the applicable policy 
language effecting coverage required by this clause.  All certificates and 
endorsements are to be received and approved by the Authority before work 
commences.  However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work 
beginning shall not waive the Consultant’s obligation to provide them.  The Authority 
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance 
policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any time. 

 



__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 9 of 22 
12/24/2020 

F. Submittal of Certificates:  Contractor shall submit all required certificates and
endorsements to the following:

Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 
Attn: Insurance Manager 
P.O. Box 2470 
Chino Hills, California  91709 

10. LEGAL RELATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

A. Professional Responsibility:  Contractor shall be responsible, to the level of
competency presently maintained by other practicing professionals performing the
same or similar type of work.

B. Status of Contractor:  Contractor is retained as an independent Contractor only, for
the sole purpose of rendering the services described herein, and is not an employee
of Authority.

C. Observing Laws and Ordinances:  Contractor shall keep itself fully informed of all
existing and future state and federal laws and all county and city ordinances and
regulations which in any manner affect the conduct of any services or tasks
performed under this Contract, and of all such orders and decrees of bodies or
tribunals having any jurisdiction or authority over the same.  Contractor shall at all
times observe and comply with all such existing and future laws, ordinances,
regulations, orders and decrees, and shall protect and indemnify, as required herein,
Authority, its officers, employees and agents against any claim or liability arising from
or based on the violation of any such law, ordinance, regulation, order or decree,
whether by Contractor or its employees.

D. Subcontracted Services:  Any subcontracts for the performance of any services
under this Contract shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Project
Manager.

E. Grant-Funded Projects:  Contractor shall be responsible to comply with all grant flow-
down requirements related to any Task Order assignments.  These may include, but
shall not be limited to:  Davis-Bacon Act, Endangered Species Act, Executive Order
11246 (Affirmative Action Requirements), Equal Opportunity, Competitive
Solicitation, Records Retention and Public Access to Records, and Compliance
Review.  If a Federally-funded project, or predecessor, Contract Task Order shall
have separate, additional reporting accountability on the use of funds.

Contractor shall inquire of the cognizant Project Manager for each Task Order issued
if work is grant funded.

F. No Guarantee of Work:  Contractor understands that there is no guarantee of
subsequent Task Order assignments given or implied by entering into this Master



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 10 of 22 
12/24/2020 

Services Contract. 
 

G. Liens:  Contractor shall pay all sums of money that become due from any labor, 
services, materials or equipment furnished to Contractor on account of said services 
to be rendered or said materials to be furnished under this Contract and that may be 
secured by any lien against Authority.  Contractor shall fully discharge each such lien 
at the time performance of the obligation secured matures and becomes due. 
 

H. Indemnification:  Consultant shall indemnify the Authority, its directors, employees 
and assigns, and shall defend and hold them harmless from all liabilities, demands, 
actions, claims, losses and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, which 
arise out of or are related to the negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct of the 
Consultant, its directors, employees, agents and assigns, in the performance of work 
under this contract. 

 In addition to the above, Contractor will indemnify, defend, and hold Authority, its 
directors, employees, agents, and assigns harmless from all liabilities, losses, 
damages, claims, penalties, fines, costs, attorney's fees or other responsibilities 
incurred by the Authority (an “Indemnified Loss”) as a result of the acts, errors or 
omissions, whether intentional, negligent or otherwise, of Contractor, its 
employees, and its subcontractors or consultants that result in claims against the 
Authority by Contractor's employees, subcontractors and/or consultants for 
employment-related claims including but not limited to claims for wages, benefits, 
insurances, employee misconduct, workplace hostile environment, wrongful 
termination, discrimination or retaliation. 

Contractor will not be obligated to indemnify, defend or hold harmless Authority 
for any liabilities, losses, damages, claims, penalties, fines, costs, attorney's fees 
or other responsibilities incurred by the Authority( a “Non-Indemnified Loss”) as a 
result of claims made by Contractor's employees, Contractors and/or contractors 
against Authority arising out of the negligent, intentional or reckless acts, errors or 
omissions of Authority and its employees. 

I. Conflict of Interest:  No official of Authority who is authorized in such capacity and on 
behalf of Authority to negotiate, make, accept or approve, or to take part in negotiat-
ing, making, accepting or approving this Contract, or any subcontract relating to 
services or tasks to be performed pursuant to this Contract, shall become directly or 
indirectly personally interested in this Contract. 

 
J. Equal Opportunity:  During the performance of this Contract, Contractor shall not 

unlawfully discriminate against any employee or employment applicant because of 
race, color, religion, sex, age, marital status, ancestry, physical or mental disability, 
sexual orientation, veteran status or national origin. 

 
K. Extra Work:  If at any time during the Task Order assignment, Contractor receives a 

direction which Contractor feels is outside the Task Order’s Scope of Work, 
Contractor shall immediately notify Authority’s Project Manager and obtain written 
direction.  The Contractor shall receive no extra compensation for extra work unless 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 11 of 22 
12/24/2020 

Authority receives timely notification of Contractor’s opinion that the work is outside 
of the contracted scope.  If the nature of the direction is such that an investigation is 
required to determine if the work is outside Contractor’s agreed upon scope, 
Contractor must notify Authority’s Project Manager that the directed work appears to 
be outside the scope within fourteen (14) calendar days after receiving the direction 
from Authority personnel.  If Authority does not receive a request for additional 
compensation within the fourteen (14) calendar days, Contractor shall not receive 
extra compensation for extra work performed.  Extra work performed without 
authorization shall be at Contractor’s sole cost. 

 
L. Non-Conforming Work:  Contractor represents that the Work and Documentation 

shall meet the standard of care of Contractor’s profession.  For a period of not less 
than one (1) year after acceptance of the completed Work, Contractor shall, at no 
additional cost to Authority, correct any and all agreed-to errors in the Work or 
Documentation, regardless of whether any such errors are brought to the attention 
of Contractor by Authority, or any other person or entity.  Contractor shall within three 
(3) calendar days, correct any error that renders the Work or Documentation 
dysfunctional or unusable and shall correct other errors within thirty (30) calendar 
days after Contractor's receipt of notice of the error.  Upon request of Authority, 
Contractor shall correct any such error deemed important by Authority in its sole 
discretion to Authority's continued use of the Work or Documentation within seven 
(7) calendar days after Contractor's receipt of notice of the error. If the IERCF Project 
Manager rejects all or any part of the Work or Documentation as unacceptable and 
agreement to correct such Work or Documentation cannot be reached without 
modification to the Contract, Contractor shall notify the Construction Manager, in 
writing, detailing the dispute and reason for Contractor's position.  Any dispute that 
cannot be resolved between the IERCF Project Manager and Contractor shall be 
resolved in accordance with the provisions of this Contract. 

 
 M. Disputes: 
 

1. All disputes arising out of or in relation to this Contract shall be determined in 
accordance with this section.  Contractor shall pursue the work to completion 
in accordance with the instruction of Authority's IERCF Project Manager not-
withstanding the existence of dispute.  By entering into this Contract, both 
parties are obligated, and hereby agree, to submit all disputes arising under 
or relating to the Contract which remain unresolved after the exhaustion of the 
procedures provided herein, to mediation.   

 
2. Any and all disputes during the pendency of the work shall be subject to 

resolution by Authority IERCF Project Manager and Contractor shall comply, 
pursuant to Authority IERCF Project Manager instructions.  If Contractor is not 
satisfied with any such resolution by Authority’s Project Manager, they may 
file a written protest with Authority’s IERCF Project Manager within seven (7) 
calendar days after receiving written notice of Authority's decision.  Failure by 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 12 of 22 
12/24/2020 

Contractor to file a written protest within seven (7) calendar days shall 
constitute waiver of protest, and acceptance of Authority’s Construction 
Manager's resolution.  Authority's IERCF Project Manager shall submit 
Contractor's written protests to the General Manager, together with a copy of 
Authority Construction Manager's written decision, for his or her consideration 
within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of said protest(s).  The General 
Manager shall make his or her determination with respect to each protest filed 
with Authority’s IERCF Project Manager within ten (10) calendar days after 
receipt of said protest(s).  If Contractor is not satisfied with any such resolution 
by the General Manager, they may file a written request for mediation with the 
Project Manager within seven (7) calendar days after receiving written notice 
of the General Manager's decision. 

 
3. In the event of mediation, the parties hereto agree that there shall be a single 

neutral Mediator who shall be selected in the following manner: 
 

a. The Demand for a Mediator shall include a list of five (5) names of 
persons acceptable to Contractor to be appointed as Mediator. 
Authority shall determine if any of the names submitted by Contractor 
are acceptable and, if so, such person shall be designated as Mediator. 

 
b. In the event that none of the names submitted by Contractor are 

acceptable to Authority, or if for any reason the Mediator selected in 
Step (a) is unable to serve, Authority shall submit to Contractor a list of 
five (5) names of persons acceptable to Authority for appointment as 
Mediator. Contractor shall, in turn, have seven (7) calendar days in 
which to determine if one such person is acceptable. 

 
4. Joinder in Mediation/Arbitration:  Authority may join Contractor in mediation or 

arbitration commenced by an agreement mediator on the Project pursuant to 
Public Contracts Code Sections 20104 et seq.  Such joinder shall be initiated 
by written notice from Authority's representative to Contractor. 

 
N. Prevailing Wages: The work associated with this Contract shall be subject to the 

prevailing wage requirements specified within Section 1770 of the California Labor 
Code. The selected Contractor shall not pay its employees assigned to this project 
less than the general prevailing wage rates, as determined by the Director of the 
State of California Department of Industrial Relations for the locality in which the 
work is to be performed, and for each craft or type of worker needed to execute 
the work contemplated under this Contract.  In accordance with the Labor Code, 
Authority has on file a schedule of prevailing wage rates for the types of work 
covered by this Contract. 

 
Contractor, or any subcontractor performing part of the Work, shall strictly adhere 
to all provisions of the Labor Code, including, but not limited to minimum days, 



__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 13 of 22 
12/24/2020 

work days, nondiscrimination, apprentices, maintenance, and availability of 
accurate payroll records and any other matters required under Federal, State, or 
local laws related to labor.  As such, Certified Payroll Reporting must be 
transmitted to the DIR as per http://www.dir.ca.gov/Public-Works/Prevailing-
Wage.html with copies to the Authority’s Project Manager. 

11. OWNERSHIP OF MATERIALS AND DOCUMENTS/CONFIDENTIALITY:  Authority retains
ownership of any and all partial or complete reports, drawings, plans, notes, computations,
lists, and/or other materials, documents, information, or data prepared by Contractor and/or
the Contractor's subcontractor(s) pertaining to this Contract.  Said materials and documents
are confidential and shall be available to Authority from the moment of their preparation, and
Contractor shall deliver same to Authority whenever requested to do so by the IERCF
Project Manager and/or Authority.  Contractor agrees that same shall not be made available
to any individual or organization, private or public, without the prior written consent of
Authority.  Any reuse of such documents for other than the specific purpose, intended as
stated herein, shall be at the sole risk of the user, and without liability or legal exposure to
Contractor.

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in this Contract, Contractor shall 
retain sole ownership to its preexisting information including but not limited to computer 
programs, software, standard details, figures, templates and specifications. 

When transferring data in electronic media format, Contractor makes no representation as 
to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting from the use of 
software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware differing from 
those used by Contractor at the beginning of the Project. 

Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently 
or otherwise without authorization of the data’s creator, the party receiving electronic files 
agrees that it shall perform acceptance tests or procedures within sixty (60) days of receipt, 
after which Authority shall have deemed to have accepted the data transferred.  Any errors 
detected within the sixty (60) days shall be corrected by Contractor at no additional cost to 
Authority.  Contractor shall not be responsible to maintain documents stored in electronic 
media format after acceptance by Authority.  The original hard copy of the documents 
containing the professional engineer’s seal shall take precedence over the electronic 
documents. 

12. PUBLIC RECORDS POLICY:  Information made available to Authority may be subject to
the California Public Records Act (Government Code Section 6250 et seq.)  Authority’s use
and disclosure of its records are governed by this Act.  Authority shall use its best efforts to
notify Contractor of any requests for disclosure of any documents pertaining to Contractor.

In the event of litigation concerning disclosure of information Contractor considers exempt 
from disclosure; (e.g., Trade Secret, Confidential, or Proprietary) Authority shall act as a 
stakeholder only, holding the information until otherwise ordered by a court or other legal 

http://www.dir.ca.gov/Public-Works/Prevailing-Wage.html
http://www.dir.ca.gov/Public-Works/Prevailing-Wage.html


__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 14 of 22 
12/24/2020 

process.  If Authority is required to defend an action arising out of a Public Records Act 
request for any of the information Contractor has marked “Confidential,” “Proprietary,” or 
“Trade Secret,” Contractor shall defend and indemnify Authority from all liability, damages, 
costs, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, in any action or proceeding arising under the 
Public Records Act.  

13. TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS:

A. Documentation:  Title to the Documentation shall pass to Authority when prepared;
however, a copy may be retained by Contractor for its records and internal use.
Contractor shall retain such Documentation in a controlled access file, and shall not
reveal, display or disclose the contents of the Documentation to others without the
prior written authorization of Authority or for the performance of Work related to the
project.

B. Material:  Title to all Material, field or research equipment, and laboratory models,
procured or fabricated under the Contract shall pass to Authority when procured or
fabricated, and such title shall be free and clear of any and all encumbrances.
Contractor shall have risk of loss of any Material or Authority-owned equipment of
which it has custody.

C. Disposition:  Contractor shall dispose of items to which Authority has title as directed
in writing by the Contract Administrator and/or Authority.

14. PROPRIETARY RIGHTS:

A. Rights and Ownership:  Authority's  rights to inventions, discoveries, trade secrets,
patents, copyrights, and other intellectual property, including the Information and
Documentation, and revisions thereto (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Proprietary Rights”), used or developed by Contractor in the performance of the
Work, shall be governed by the following provisions:

1. Proprietary Rights conceived, developed, or reduced to practice by Contractor
in the performance of the Work shall be the property of Authority, and
Contractor shall cooperate with all appropriate requests to assign and transfer
same to Authority.

2. If Proprietary Rights conceived, developed, or reduced to practice by
Contractor prior to the performance of the Work are used in and become
integral with the Work or Documentation, or are necessary for Authority to
have complete enjoyment of the Work or Documentation, Contractor shall
grant to Authority a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free license, as may be
required by Authority for the complete enjoyment of the Work and
Documentation, including the right to reproduce, correct, repair, replace,
maintain, translate, publish, use, modify, copy or dispose of any or all of the



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 15 of 22 
12/24/2020 

Work and Documentation and grant sublicenses to others with respect to the 
Work and Documentation. 

 
3. If the Work or Documentation includes the Proprietary Rights of others, 

Contractor shall procure, at no additional cost to Authority, all necessary 
licenses regarding such Proprietary Rights so as to allow Authority the 
complete enjoyment of the Work and Documentation, including the right to 
reproduce, correct, repair, replace, maintain, translate, publish, use, modify, 
copy or dispose of any or all of the Work and Documentation and grant 
sublicenses to others with respect to the Work and Documentation.  All such 
licenses shall be in writing and shall be irrevocable and royalty-free to 
Authority. 

 
B. No Additional Compensation:  Nothing Set forth in this Contract shall be deemed to 

require payment by Authority to Contractor of any compensation specifically for the 
assignments and assurances required hereby, other than the payment of expenses 
as may be actually incurred by Contractor in complying with this Contract. 

 
15. INFRINGEMENT:  Contractor represents and warrants that the Work and Documentation 

shall be free of any claim of trade secret, trademark, trade name, copyright, or patent 
infringement or other violations of any Proprietary Rights of any person. 
 
Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless, Authority, its officers, directors, 
agents, employees, successors, assigns, servants, and volunteers free and harmless from 
any and all liability, damages, losses, claims, demands, actions, causes of action, and costs 
including reasonable attorney's fees and expenses arising out of any claim that use of the 
Work or Documentation infringes upon any trade secret, trade mark, trade name, copyright, 
patent, or other Proprietary Rights. 
 
Contractor shall, at its expense and at Authority's option, refund any amount paid by 
Authority under the Contract, or exert its best efforts to procure for Authority the right to use 
the Work and Documentation, to replace or modify the Work and Documentation as 
approved by Authority so as to obviate any such claim of infringement, or to put up a 
satisfactory bond to permit Authority's continued use of the Work and Documentation.  

 
16. NOTICES:  Any notice may be served upon either party by delivering it in person, or by 

depositing it in a United States Mail deposit box with the postage thereon fully prepaid, and 
addressed to the party at the address set forth below: 

 
     Authority: Mr. Warren T. Green 
  Manager of Contracts, Procurement and Risk Services 
 for Inland Empire Regional Composting Authority 
 P.O. Box 9020 
 Chino Hills, California 91709-0902 
 
              Contractor:        Mr. Mark D. Reimers 



 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
IERCF 4600002994  (RW)                                  Page 16 of 22 
12/24/2020 

     President 
     R & S Industrial Field Services Inc. 

  P.O. Box 2796  
  Victorville, California 92393 
   
 Any notice given hereunder shall be deemed effective in the case of personal delivery, upon 

receipt thereof, or, in the case of mailing, at the moment of deposit in the course of 
transmission with the United States Postal Service. 

 
17. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS:  All of the terms, conditions and provisions of this Contract 

shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon Authority, Contractor, and their respective 
successors and assigns.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no assignment of the duties or 
benefits of Contractor under this Contract may be assigned, transferred or otherwise 
disposed of without the prior written consent of Authority; and any such purported or 
attempted assignment, transfer or  disposal without the prior  written consent of Authority 
shall be null, void and of no legal effect whatsoever. 

 
18. RIGHT TO AUDIT: Authority reserves the right to review and/or audit all Contractors’ records 

related to the work assigned by subsequent Task Orders.  The option to review and/or audit 
may be exercised during the term of the Contract, upon termination, upon completion of the 
Contract, or at any time thereafter up to twelve (12) months after final payment has been 
made to Contractor.  Contractor shall make all records and related documentation available 
within three (3) working days after said records are requested by Authority. 

 
19. INTEGRATION:  The Contract Documents represent the entire agreement of Authority and 

Contractor as to those matters contained herein.  No prior oral or written understanding shall 
be of any force or effect with respect to those matters covered by the Contract Documents.  
This Contract may not be modified, altered or amended except by written mutual agreement 
by Authority and Contractor. 

 
20. GOVERNING LAW:  This Agreement is to be governed by and constructed in accordance 

with the laws of the State of California. 
 
21. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE:  Authority reserves and has the right to immediately 

suspend, cancel or terminate this Agreement at any time upon written notice to Contractor.  
In the event of such termination, Authority shall pay Contractor for all authorized and 
Contractor-invoiced services up to the date of such termination. 

 
22. FORCE MAJEURE:  Neither party shall hold the other responsible for the effects of acts 

occurring beyond their control; e.g., war, riots, strikes, natural disasters, etcetera. 
 
23. NOTICE TO PROCEED:  No services shall be performed or furnished under this Master 

Services Contract unless and until a Notice to Proceed has been issued to Contractor. 

24.  AUTHORITY-PROVIDED INFORMATION AND SERVICES: The Authority shall furnish 



Consultant available studies, reports and other data pertinent to Contractor's services; 
obtain or authorize Contractor to obtain or provide additional reports and data as required; 
furnish to Contractor services of others required for the performance of Contractor's services 
hereunder, all subject to Authority's prior approval, and Contractor shall be entitled to use 
and rely upon all such information and services provided by the Authority or others in 
performing Contractor's services under this Agreement. 

25. THIRD PARTIES: The services to be performed by Contractor are intended solely for the 
benefit of the Authority. No person or entity not a signatory to this Agreement shall be entitled 
to rely on Contractor's performance of its services hereunder, and no right to assert a claim 
against Contractor by assignment of indemnify rights or otherwise shall accrue to a third 
party as a result of this Agreement of the performance of Contractor's services hereunder. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Contract to be entered as of the day 
and year written on Page One. 

INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL 
COMPOSTING AUTHORITY: 

Jeff Ziegenbein (Date) 
Manager of Regional Compost Operations/ 
Project Manager 

R & S INDUSTRIAL FIELD SERVICE INC.: 

Marl< D. Reimers 
President 

/ J J :J9.tCJ;2.() 
~· 

[ Balance Of This Page Intentionally Left Blank J 

IERCF 4600002994 (RW) 
12/24/2020 

Page 17 of 22 





































INFORMATION 
ITEM 

 
4A 

 



Inland Empire Utilities Agency               Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

Date: February 1, 2021 

To: Honorable Board of Directors 

From: Jeff Ziegenbein 
Project Manager 

Subject: Project Manager’s Report  

RECOMMENDATION 

This is an information item for the Board to receive and file. 

BACKGROUND 

Operations 

The Inland Empire Regional Composting Facility (IERCF) continued maximum daily throughput levels 
up to 650 wet tons of biosolids and up to 300 wet tons of amendments, Monday through Friday each week.   

Since the last update, the IERCF staff has: 

o Maintained compost sales volumes that match or exceed production volumes
o Maintained 100% compliance with permit regulations
o Successfully filled the vacant Sales and Marketing position with new hire Marcus Coulombe
o Logged over 530 days with no lost-time incidents
o No recordable incidents or accidents in 1.5 years

Table 1 lists materials processed for the current fiscal year (Q1-Q2) 2020/21, July 1-December 31, 2020, 
the same time period in the previous fiscal year (Q1-Q2) 2019/2020, and since start-up in April 2007 
through December 31, 2020.  It should be noted the biosolids tonnage for Q1-Q2 FY 20/21 was reduced 
slightly from March 23, 2020 until May 11, 202 to allow for a glulam repair to the compost area roof 
structure.  

Table 1: Process summary 
Q1-Q2 FY 

19/20 
Q1-Q2 FY 

20/21 
2007-2020 

Biosolids Processed (wet tons) 74,150 74,063 1,834,089 
Amendments Processed (wet tons) 21,152 21,508 712,414 
Compost Sold (cubic yards) 121,596 104,461 2,885,090 



Project Manager’s Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 2 of 7 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency            Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

COVID-19 Update 

The facility continued to operate at capacity with no incidents of COVID-19 illness at the time of this 
report. Staff continued to diligently follow CDC guidelines while carrying out operations, maintenance, 
sales and administrative activities at the facility.  

The employees are required to self-screen for signs and symptoms of illness including fever and are 
instructed to notify their supervisor and to not report onsite if they show symptoms and then to maintain 
distancing while on site.  

The Agency is monitoring the availability of COVID-19 vaccines and will encourage front line employees 
to vaccinate as soon as possible.  

0.00

2,000.00

4,000.00

6,000.00

8,000.00

10,000.00

12,000.00

14,000.00

16,000.00

18,000.00

20,000.00

IERCF Inbound & Outbound (12 Months

Biosolids (Inbound) Amendments (Inbound) Compost (Tons Outbound)



Project Manager’s Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 3 of 7 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency           Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

Biofilter Media Replenishment 

IERCF biennial biofilter replenishment that began in September of 2020 has been completed on time and 
within budget for this media replenishment cycle. Staff removes each biofilter cell, one at a time, blends 
in approximately 25% new, chunky wood then rebuilds each cell. The replenishment strategy saves over 
$500,000 versus full replacement every 3 or 4 years and helps the biofilter perform better by keeping the 
healthy bacteria in place. Major source testing to determine the performance of the biofilter, as required 
every two years by SCAQMD, will begin on January 29, 2021 and finish on February 3, 2021. 

Maintenance 

The Maintenance Department has identified the need for corrosion repair and rehabilitation of critical 
support structures of conveyance systems and interior building infrastructure. After extensive market 
research and field testing, the IERCA chose the Belzona line of products to provide the coating materials 
and application. Belzona manufactures industrial protective coatings and engineering composites in 
polymer systems. Specializing in the design and manufacture of repair composite materials and protective 
coatings for machinery, equipment, buildings and structures. The two products that will be applied are: 
Belzona 1111 (Super Metal) used to repair and resurface any excessively worn or eroded metal 
components; and Belzona 5811 (Immersion Grade) used to coat and protect all surfaces.  

Belzona 1111 (Super Metal) 

 Multi-purpose durable repair composite
 Fully machinable using conventional tools
 Application and cure at room temperature - no hot work involved
 Reduced health and safety risks as it is solvent-free
 No shrinkage, expansion or distortion
 Excellent adhesion to metals including stainless steel, carbon steel, aluminum, brass and copper
 Outstanding corrosion resistance



Project Manager’s Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 4 of 7 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency            Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

 Excellent chemical resistance against a wide range of chemicals
 Excellent electrical insulation characteristics

Belzona 5811 (Immersion Grade) 

 Effective protection of equipment operating under immersion conditions from corrosion damage
 Belzona 5811DW2 (DW Immersion Grade) is approved by WRAS for the applications in contact

with drinking water
 Reduced health and safety risks as it is solvent-free
 Easy application by brush or spray and cure at room temperature - no hot work involved
 Excellent chemical resistance against a wide range of chemicals as well as sea water and crude oil
 Eliminates the need for replacement and reduces downtime
 Excellent adhesion to virtually any surface including cast iron, stainless steel, brass, copper,

concrete, wood, fiberglass and aluminum

This application will ensure our facility has the best material to protect critical building structures and 
equipment for the long term, reducing downtime, protecting assets, and lowering overall maintenance 
costs. 

Belzona 1111 “Super Metal” application to main conveyor support I beam. 

Table 2: Maintenance KPIs  



Project Manager’s Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 5 of 7 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency            Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

*Percent complete may exceed scheduled workorders due to non-scheduled break in work orders being completed during the
period.

Outreach 



Project Manager’s Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 6 of 7 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency            Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

Table 3: Summary of IERCA outreach activities (closed to public due to COVID-19)  
ITEM NUMBER 
IERCF Tours (groups/people) 0  
Garden in Every School 0 
Site visitors (contractors) 165 

Sales and Marketing Report  

The sales staff is currently servicing over 100 active customers. The team’s focus over this last quarter 
has been on maintaining the greatest value for our Premium Compost. Sales have matched production and 
we have maintained a minimum reserve inventory balance through the entire quarter. IERCA’s customer 
base is sustaining at 75% landscape markets and 20% agriculture with 5% going to our “Give Back” 
program. This market diversification has allowed IERCA to maintain a more even sales distribution 
throughout this season.    

Despite the current conditions, SoilPro has remained the leading supplier of Premium Compost throughout 
the landscape and bulk material yard market segment. IERCA continues to see positive results from the 
“Give Back” program and continues to promote this opportunity to the many cities affiliated with IEUA 
and LACSD. The sales team remains committed to promoting the many advantages of SoilPro, including 
the increase water savings potential, ability to sequester carbon, and the use in correcting unproductive 
soils through healthy and natural processes. IERCA sales staff continues to monitor market conditions to 
ensure the best value for our compost.  

Table 4: Summary of monthly sales and revenue  

MONTH 
TOTAL 
YARDS 

2020/2021 

TOTAL 
YARDS 

2019/2020 

TOTAL 
REVENUE  
2020/2021 

TOTAL 
REVENUE  
2019/2020 

July 18,632.15 15,197.96 $36,324.43 $26,993.99 

August 15,829.68 18,235.92 $33,361.10 $47,097.00 

September 13,272.68 11,554.41 $29,355.73 $18,735.36 

October 14,086.05 24,986.59 $27,044.19 $37,115.24 

November 19,543.16 25,873.18 $31,456.40 $26,834.01 

December 23,088.92 25,748.13 $30,001.22 $17,219.37 

TOTAL 104,452.64 95,848.06 $187,543.07 $156,775.60 

AVERAGE 17,408.77 19,169.61 $31,257.18 $31,355.12 

The following tables summarize the Authority’s aging reports and sales write off history.  



Project Manager’s Report 
February 1, 2021 
Page 7 of 7 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency            Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts 

Table 5: Monthly Accounts Receivable Ageing Report 
Monthly Accounts Receivable Ageing Report of IERCA (Sales only to third parties) as of 9/30/2020 

Description Current 
1-30
Days

31-60 days
61-90
days

91-120
days

>121
days

Total 

1 Amount $ 40,184.86 14,846.88 6,003.51 2,509.13 2,990.63 34,632.64 101,167.65 
2 # of Invoices 36 18 6 3 4 16 83 

3  # of Customers 35 17 6 3 4 5 47 

All but one of the customers at >90 days are in the process of paying and are expected to continue doing 
business. One customer will likely have to be written off with a total debt of approximately $500.  

Table 6 Quarterly Accounts Receivable Ageing Report 
Quarterly Accounts Receivable Ageing Report of IERCA (Sales only to third parties) 

Sr. 
# Description 

From FY 
2007/08        

to FY 2020/21 
FY 2020/21 

(July - December) Total 

1 Sales 6,988,067.58 266,493.07 7,254,560.65 
2 Write off 35,727.52 0 35,727.52 
3 Percentage of Write Off Sales 0.5113% 0.4925% 

PRIOR BOARD ACTION 

None. 

IMPACT ON BUDGET 

None. 



INFORMATION 
ITEM 

 
4B 

 



IERCF Capital Project Updates

Jeff Ziegenbein

Project Manager

February 1, 2021



2

RA19002 – Compost Screening Plant No. 1 Replacement 
Project Goal: Increase Production
Design-Build

Operational Update

• Tensioned Screen Failure
– Screen patched to maintain 

operation

– WSM/IEUA working on solution
• Hook Style Screens 

• Tensioning Bolts



3

Total Project Budget: $426,000
Project Completion: January 2021
Overall Percent Complete: 90%

Phase Consultant/
Contractor

Current 
Contract

Amendments/ 
Change 
Orders

Design In House N/A N/A

Construction
(Current)

Next Stage 
Engineering

$313,738 6.4%

RA17007 – Wash Pad Cover
Project Goal: Improve Work Environment
Design-Build

* Expected net change order and contract amount after deductive change orders



• Compost staff using pad

• Positive comments about
cover and lighting

4

RA17007 – Wash Pad Cover
Project Goal: Improve Work Environment
Design-Build



INFORMATION 
ITEM 4C 



Inland Empire Utilities Agency                                 Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  February 1, 2021 

 

To:  Honorable Board of Directors 

 

From:  Christina Valencia 

  Treasurer 

    

Subject:          Treasurer’s Report of Financial Affairs for the Quarter Ended  

  December 31, 2020 

              

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

The Treasurer’s Report of Financial Affairs for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 is an 

informational item for the Board’s review. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

In accordance with State Code, Section 53646(b) (1), and the Authority’s Investment Policy 

(Resolution No. 2020-5-1), a periodic investment report shall be submitted to members of the 

Board for review.  This report includes in part, the investment types, investment institutions, 

maturity dates, investment amount, current market value, and rate of interest/earnings yield. 
 

The Treasurer's Report of Financial Affairs for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 is hereby 

submitted in a format consistent with State requirements. As shown in the table below, December’s 

total cash, investments, and restricted deposits equaled $2,404,661 showing a decrease of $586,009 

when compared to the September balance of $2,990,670. The decrease was mainly due to banking 

process timing of the payments to IERCA issued in the last week of December, that will be 

reflected in January 2021.  

 

The Authority’s investment portfolio average rate of return in December 2020(1) was 0.353 percent 

compared to the September 2020 yield of 0.443 percent. As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to 

cause human and economic hardship across the nation, economic activity remains sluggish and 

interest rates remain relatively low. Interest earnings for the quarter ended December 31 were 

$4,930. 
 

  

September  

 

December(1) 

Changes from 

Prior Quarter 

Total Cash, Investments, 

Restricted Deposits 
$2,990,670 $2,404,661 ($586,009) 

Investment Portfolio 

Average Rate of Return 
0.443% 0.353% -0.090% 

(1) Interest rate for the Local Agency Investment Fund and LA County Pooled Investment is as of November 2020. 



February 1, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency                        Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 

 

 

 

Cash on hand (COH) for the month ended December 31, 2020 was 86 days compared to the 

September 30, 2020 COH of 105 days, due to lower cash balances and high average monthly 

disbursements. The COH is a financial ratio used to measure cash readily available to pay 

expenses. Average days of cash on hand is calculated using the monthly ending balance of 

unrestricted cash and cash equivalents divided by disbursements associated with operating and 

capital expense as recorded in the Authority’s cash flow.  

 

 
 

 

PRIOR BOARD ACTION 

 

None. 

 

IMPACT ON BUDGET 

 

The interest earned on the Authority’s investment portfolio increases the Authority’s reserves.  

 

 

Attachment: Treasurer’s Report of Financial Affairs for quarter ended December 31, 2020. 



#DIV/0!

* A Joint Powers Authority

the Authority's Investment Policy (Resolution No. 2020-5-1), adopted by the Inland Empire

Regional Composting Authority's Board of Directors during its regular meeting held on May 4, 2020.

The funds anticipated to be available during the next six-month period are expected to be

sufficient to meet all foreseen expenditures during the period.

All investment transactions have been executed in accordance with the criteria stated in

TREASURER'S REPORT OF FINANCIAL AFFAIRS

For the Quarter Ended December 31, 2020



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY

Cash and Investment Summary
 Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2020

Unrestricted Accounts December September

$547,947 $941,119

Investments

Citizens Business Bank (CBB) Repurchase (Sweep) $580,411 $177,525

LA County Pooled Investment $273,983 $273,492

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) $1,002,320 $1,598,534

Total Investments $1,856,714 $2,049,551

Total Unrestricted Cash and Investments Available to the Authority $2,404,661 $2,990,670

Total Unrestricted Cash and Investments $2,404,661 $2,990,670

Net Change from previous Quarter ($586,009)

Cash, Bank Deposits, and Bank Investment Accounts

1



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY

Cash and Investment Summary
 Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2020

Unrestricted Accounts

Cash, Bank Deposits, and Bank Investment Accounts

For the Quarter Ended December 31, 2020

Demand (Checking) Accounts $547,947

Subtotal Demand Deposits $547,947

Total Cash and Bank Investment Accounts $547,947

Investments

Citizens Business Bank (CBB) Repurchase (Sweep) $580,411

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) $1,002,320

LA County Pooled Investment $273,983

$1,856,714

Total Investments $1,856,714

Total Cash, Investments and Restricted Deposits as of December 31, 2020 $2,404,661

Total Unrestricted Cash and Investments as of 12/31/2020 $2,404,661

Less: Total Unrestricted Cash and Investments as of 9/30/2020 $2,990,670

Total Quarterly Increase (Decrease) ($586,009)

2



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY

Cash and Investment Summary
 Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2020

Par Principal December % Market

Investments Amount Amount  Amortization Yield  Value 

For the Quarter Ended December 31, 2020

Cash, Bank Deposits, and Bank Investment Accounts

Citizens Business Bank

Checking Account $547,947 $547,947 $547,947 N/A $547,947

Subtotal CBB $547,947 $547,947 $547,947 N/A $547,947

Total Unrestricted Accounts $547,947 $547,947 $547,947 $547,947

Investments

Citizens Business Bank Sweep
(1)

$580,411 $580,411 $580,411 0.200% $580,411

LA County Pooled Investment
(2)

$273,983 $273,983 $273,983 0.570% $273,983

Local Agency Investment Fund
(2)

$1,002,320 $1,002,320 $1,002,320 0.576% $1,002,320

Subtotal Investments $1,856,714 $1,856,714 $1,856,714 0.458% $1,856,714

Total Investments $1,856,714 $1,856,714 $1,856,714 $1,856,714

$2,404,661 $2,404,661 $2,404,661 $2,404,661Total Unrestricted Cash and Investments as of December 31, 2020

(1) 
Citizens Business Bank Sweep rate dropped from 0.25% to 0.20% on December 2, 2020. 

(2) 
Interest Rate information from LA County Pooled Investment and LAIF as of November 2020.

3



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY

Cash and Investment Summary
 Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2020

Unrestricted Accounts

Cash, Bank Deposits, and Bank Investment Accounts Amount Invested Yield

For the Quarter Ended December 31, 2020Citizens Business Bank - Sweep Account
(1)

$580,411 0.200%

LA County Pooled Investment
(2)

$273,983 0.570%

Local Agency Investment Fund
(2)

$1,002,320 0.576%

$1,856,714 0.458%

     Bank Accounts

Citizens Business Bank -Demand Account $547,947 N/A

$547,947

Total Portfolio $2,404,661

Investment Portfolio Rate of Return 0.353%

Restricted/Transitory/Other Demand Accounts Amount Invested Yield

Total Other Accounts $0 0.000%

Total Authority Directed Deposits $2,404,661

(2) Interest Rate information from LA County Pooled Investment and LAIF as of November 2020.

(1) Citizens Business Bank Sweep rate dropped from 0.25% to 0.20% on December 2, 2020. 

4



INLAND EMPIRE REGIONAL COMPOSTING AUTHORITY

Cash Position
 Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2020

273492

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

$4.5

$5.0

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20

M
ill

io
n

s

CBB Checking & Sweep Account LAIF Investments LA County Pooled Investment

Total Cash, Investments and Restricted Deposits

5


	Agenda 1
	Agenda 2
	Agenda 3
	Consent 2A
	Consent 2B
	Action 3A
	Action 3B
	Action 3C
	Information 4A
	Information 4B
	Information 4C



